
COUNCIL

A meeting of Council will be held at Council Chamber, Fenland Hall, County Road, 
March on THURSDAY, 13 SEPTEMBER 2018 at 4.00 PM and I request you to attend 
accordingly for transaction of the following business:

1  To receive apologies for absence. 

2  Previous Minutes (Pages 3 - 14)

To confirm and sign the minutes of 19 July 2018

3  Civic Engagements Update (Pages 15 - 16)

For information only

4  To receive any announcements from the Chairman of the Council 
and/or the Head of Paid Service. 

5  To receive members' declaration of any interests under the Local Code 
of Conduct or any interest under the Code of Conduct on Planning 
Matters in respect of any item to be discussed at the meeting. 

6  To receive questions from, and provide answers to, councillors in 
relation to matters which, in the opinion of the Chairman, accord with 
the provisions of Procedure Rules 8.4 and 8.6. 

7  To receive reports from and ask questions of Cabinet members with 
portfolio holder responsibilities, in accordance with Procedure Rules 8.1 
and 8.2. (Pages 17 - 86)

8  PETITION - Clinical Waste Collection Charges (Pages 87 - 88)

To consider a petition regarding clinical waste collection charges.

9  Council Audio/Visual Equipment 

To consider the Audio/Visual Equipment for the Council Chamber

10  Property Acquisition and Regeneration, Wisbech (Pages 89 - 156)

To consider the Acquisition and Regeneration of 11/12, High Street 
Wisbech.

Appendices A-G comprise exempt information - to exclude the public 
(including the press) from a meeting of a committee it is necessary for 
the following proposition to be moved and adopted: "that the public be 
excluded from the meeting for Items which involve the likely disclosure 
of exempt information as defined in the paragraphs of Part I of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) as indicated."

Public Document Pack



Fenland Hall
March

Chief Executive
             

Wednesday, 5 September 2018

NOTE The Council may, by resolution, as exemplified below, exclude the public from 
a meeting during the consideration of any item of business whenever it is 
likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of 
the proceedings that, if members of the public were present, there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in Section 100 I of the 
Local Government Act, 1972

"Resolved that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972 
the public be excluded from the meeting for Item No./Minute No.        on the 
grounds that the item involves the disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in Paragraph       of Part I of Schedule 12A of the Act"



COUNCIL

THURSDAY, 19 JULY 2018 - 4.00 PM

PRESENT: Councillor K Mayor (Chairman), Councillor Benney, Councillor S Bligh, Councillor 
C Boden (from 4.05pm), Councillor G Booth, Councillor M Buckton, Councillor R Butcher, 
Councillor J Clark, Councillor S Clark, Councillor D Connor, Councillor M Cornwell, Councillor 
S Count (from 4.12pm), Councillor S Court, Councillor C Cox, Councillor J French, Councillor 
S Garratt, Councillor A Hay, Councillor D Hodgson, Councillor S Hoy, Councillor M Humphrey, 
Councillor S King, Councillor D Laws, Councillor D Mason, Councillor A Miscandlon, Councillor 
P Murphy, Councillor F Newell, Councillor D Oliver, Councillor K Owen, Councillor A Pugh, 
Councillor C Seaton, Councillor R Skoulding, Councillor W Sutton, Councillor G Tibbs, Councillor 
S Tierney and Councillor F Yeulett

APOLOGIES: Councillor M Davis (Vice-Chairman), Councillor M Bucknor and Councillor 
V Bucknor

C16/18 PREVIOUS MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting of 17 May 2018 were confirmed and signed, subject to amendment to 
minute C6/18, penultimate paragraph, to include that Councillor Booth commented that a 
Government Minister effectively said that local Council leaders needed to get their act together to 
obtain the funding and it was extremely disappointing that a Conservative Government was 
attacking Conservative Councils.

Councillor Owen stated in relation to minute C7/18, second paragraph, that the boat in March had 
now been removed.

C17/18 TO RECEIVE ANY ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNCIL 
AND/OR THE HEAD OF PAID SERVICE.

1. Former Vice-Chairman

The Chairman asked Councillor Hodgson, as departing Vice-Chairman, whether he would like 
to say any words as he was not present at the Annual Council meeting.

Councillor Hodgson thanked fellow councillors for electing him as Vice-Chairman a role which 
he has enjoyed supporting the Chairman.

2. New District Councillor

The Chairman welcomed Councillor Ian Benney to his first meeting of Council following his 
election to the District Council in the Birch Ward By-Election.

3. Twinning Visit

The Chairman thanked members who took part in the twinning visit with German colleagues 
from Stadt Nettletal.  The extended weekend and the associated activities were extremely 
successful and enjoyed by all.

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



4. Armed Forces Day

The Chairman thanked members who were able to attend the Armed Forces Day celebrations 
and particularly the Badge Presentation Service which took place at St Mary’s Church in 
Whittlesey.  The event was well attended recognising the selfless contribution of our Armed 
Forces men and women, with the veteran’s badges being presented by the High Sheriff of 
Cambridgeshire, Dr Andrew Harter.
 

5. Civic Reception

The Chairman informed members that her Civic Reception would take place on Friday 14 
September 2018 at the Neale-Wade Community College, March and invitations would be sent 
out to all members shortly.

6. Coffee Morning

The Chairman informed members that she will be hosting the annual Charity Coffee Morning on 
Thursday 27 September 2018, with all the proceeds being donated to MacMillan Cancer Relief.  
She stated that all members were welcome to attend and donations for raffle prizes to raise 
money for this worthwhile cause were also appreciated.

7. Customer Service Excellence

The Chairman announced that the Council has been successful in obtaining reaccreditation of 
the Customer Service Excellence standard.  This is a rigorous external assessment that 
recognises the Council’s commitment and excellence in the delivery of its customer service.

The Chairman presented the Customer Service Excellence Award to Councillor Mrs Hay as 
Portfolio Holder.

C18/18 TO RECEIVE QUESTIONS FROM, AND PROVIDE ANSWERS TO, COUNCILLORS 
IN RELATION TO MATTERS WHICH, IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIRMAN, 
ACCORD WITH THE PROVISIONS OF PROCEDURE RULES 8.4 AND 8.6.

No questions had been submitted under Procedure Rule 8.6 and Councillor Booth, as leader of the 
main opposition group, asked questions under Procedure Rule 8.4, as follows:

 is the Council going to modernise the way it interacts with the public, in particular with access to 
meetings and the possibility of screening meetings in the future as other councils do?  Although 
he had the question answered in relation to timescales in an e-mail, he felt it was a broader 
subject than this.  The Leader stated that he would expand upon this response;

 further to the Leader’s role on the Combined Authority and his update to members last week on 
the Wisbech 2020 projects, Councillor Mrs Bucknor had suggested a briefing to Councillors and 
is it the Leader’s intention to provide a briefing?  The Leader stated that the Council was given 
a late opportunity to participate in a paid for editorial by Anglian Water, with no new information 
on the projects being available;

 what is the position with the Wisbech Rail Project as it seems to be losing momentum?  The 
Leader stated that it has been to the Wisbech Access Study and passed by the County Council 
only 5-6 weeks ago.  The project is in its infancy at the moment and once more information is 
available he would provide it to Members.  Councillor Booth expressed the view that this 
contradicts what Councillor King stated when he was Portfolio Holder when he indicated it was 
at more advanced stage more than six months ago;

Page 4



 when is the Council going to engage with the public over Wisbech Garden Town as it is moving 
ahead at some speed and the public are unaware, which he has concerns about?  The Leader 
stated that contact from the Environment Agency is still awaited over flood risk and whether it 
will allow the development to be built;

 is there any more information on the Mayor of the Combined Authority’s published document on 
strategic initiatives, which includes the desire to extend the M11 past Chatteris up to the 
Guyhirn Roundabout?  It is vague in detail but does refer to investment through public or 
private initiatives and is there any further information on this?  The Leader stated that the 
Mayor has had various meetings with investors, both nationally and internationally, and once he 
is aware of any further information he will provide it to Members.  The Mayor is still trying to 
finalise portfolios, which is hoped will be concluded in a week, and it is hoped that further 
information will be forthcoming after this;

 Cabinet agreed earlier today to pass the costs of repairs and maintenance of parish street 
lighting to the Parish Councils and, therefore, costs to parishioners in the precepts.  How will 
the Council let parishioners know about this issue as the decision was made by this Council 
and it will involve costs to people living in rural villages?  Up to now, street lighting has been 
paid for in the Council Tax and shared equally and fairly and this decision means there will be 
extra costs in rural villages because they are paying for the street lighting in the towns through 
Council Tax and the parish lighting through precepts.  The Leader acknowledged that some 
street lights belong to the District and some to the Parish.  Cabinet has made a compromise on 
the energy costs for twelve months listening to the arguments put forward.  The costs will be 
equitable across the parishes and depend upon whether the parish becomes part of the 
Council’s contract or goes it alone, for which there would be grant funding.  Councillor Booth 
made the point that this still does not answer his question about how parishioners will be 
informed that it is the District Council’s decision to pass on costs to people in the villages.  The 
Leader stated that these assets belong to the parishes and it will be for the parishes to give an 
explanation as to why they are raising precepts and he believes that most parishes put their 
precepts up in the past to cover the eventuality of the street light issue.  Councillor Booth 
disagreed with it being fair as the previous situation came about due to the way assets were 
allocated by the Local Government Act 1974 with for some reason the towns lighting being 
provided by the District Council.  In his view, the reason that the Council paid for the Parish 
street lighting was in recognition that this legislation was flawed in the first place and now the 
Council is penalising parishioners that live in the villages as it is passing on those costs.  This is 
not a good situation and the Council should act for the good of the whole District and it is some 
of the most vulnerable people that live in the villages.  The Leader stated that this situation has 
been going on for over four years and the Parish Councils have had ample opportunities 
through various means to express their concerns, with all cases being assessed.  However, the 
Council have had to make a decision as it is in a difficult situation economically having to make 
significant savings.  These lights are parish assets and the Council has paid for them for the 
past thirty years which it cannot longer afford to do;

 are there going to be any further surprises in relation to the Comprehensive Funding Review 
that would affect the parishes?  The issue is transparency as the position with the parishes 
keeps moving being told different things at different meetings.  The Leader stated that at 
present nothing else would change.

Councillor King stated in relation to Councillor Booth’s comments on the Wisbech Rail project that 
he has no recollection of saying the study was underway as a source of funding had not been 
secured.

C19/18 TO RECEIVE REPORTS FROM AND ASK QUESTIONS OF CABINET MEMBERS 
WITH PORTFOLIO HOLDER RESPONSIBILITIES, IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

Page 5



PROCEDURE RULES 8.1 AND 8.2.

Standing orders were suspended to allow for full discussion on this item.

Members asked questions of Portfolio Holders in accordance with Procedure Rules 8.1 and 8.2 as 
follows:

 Councillor Mrs French asked when will the replacement of March Skate Park happen making 
the point that she would like to see it sooner rather than later?  Councillor Murphy responded 
that matched funding has not yet been secured.  WREN who the Council used to obtain funding 
from no longer recognises Wisbech and March as it is outside its area.  It is hoped that there 
will still be consultation in the late Summer with works to start in 2019;

 Councillor Mrs French asked for the timeframe for the car parks to be resurfaced?  Councillor 
Mason stated that he will respond to her after the meeting;

 Councillor Butcher referred to the e-mail received about the Business Awards.  He made the 
point that the Council made a decision a few years ago as part of Comprehensive Spending 
Review to withdraw from these Awards and asked who has made the decision to financially 
support them again?  Councillor Mason responded that it was his suggestion to the Leader and 
Chief Executive as it presented an opportunity to engage and support local businesses after 
two years of inactivity.  He referred to the support given to a similar event, Pride of Fenland 
Awards.  Councillor Butcher recognised the reasons for the decision as business is important to 
the Council, but, in his view, this is an open Council and it should have been a discussion with 
Members.  Councillor Mason expressed the opinion that £1,200 is a small amount of money 
and he felt the Awards should be supported;

 Councillor Mrs Bligh asked in reference to savings why Members are still receiving paper 
payslips?  Councillor Mrs Hay responded that the payroll service is administered by Bedford 
Borough Council and she will speak to officers about Members receiving electronic payslips 
and report back;

 Councillor Sutton stated that he had e-mailed Councillor Mason raising his objection to the 
financial support to the Business Awards as he feels that it has existed and worked perfectly 
well without any input from the Council.  He made the point that when he goes to officers or the 
Portfolio Holder for something in his villages he is being told there is no money and he feels it is 
outrageous that the Portfolio Holder, Leader and officers have given approval for this;

 Councillor Sutton referred to the microphone situation.  He had brought some leaflets back from 
the LGA and given them to the Chief Executive stating that the microphone situation needed 
resolving.  It is now 12 months later and, in his view, it took the diabolical situation of the 
September meeting with the Chairman speaking and the microphones whistling away for 
officers to recognise the problem.  The Council has hired in a system for the last few Council 
meetings and is using an archaic system that is not fit for purpose for other meetings.  He 
asked how much the hired-in system costs per meeting and when is the microphones issue 
going to be resolved?  Councillor Seaton stated that he would provide an answer following the 
meeting;

 Councillor Tierney referred to street drinking in Wisbech, with the Police undertaking a recent 
drive, but he is still seeing street drinking in areas where a DPPO exists, asking how the 
Council can undertake more enforcement?  Councillor Oliver stated that he would report back 
as it may be that patrol timings need adjusting and whilst CCTV can pick up instances the 
person has moved on when officers get there.  Councillor Tierney expressed the view that, 
whilst the new system is working as it has cut instances, he wants to work with Cabinet as the 
issue has moved onto Church Terrace.  Councillor Oliver stated that he had noticed this during Page 6



the Rose Fair and he will liaise with officers to find a solution;

 Councillor Booth asked what funding has been set aside for maintenance and improvements to 
play areas across the District for 2017/18, 2018/19 and 2019/20?  Councillor Murphy 
responded that £20,235 for 2017/18 and £29,500 for 2018/19 and the same the following year.  
This funding is to be used to repair any play equipment reported to the Council or identified 
during safety inspections.  Councillor Booth expressed the view that last year he was told there 
was no funding available for play equipment in the villages, although Wisbech Skate Park 
obtained funding, and asked how can it be assured that there is a level playing field and 
everyone gets funding?  It shouldn’t be forgotten that we need to look after our villages as well 
as towns.  Councillor Murphy stated that money is obtained from Section 106 Agreements or 
external funding, with funding for Bath Road Skate Park coming from Clarion, this Council 
through Section 106 Agreement money and Wisbech Town Council.  Councillor Booth asked 
that other areas of the district are not forgotten.  Councillor Murphy assured him that no parts of 
the district are forgotten;

 Councillor Tibbs stated that he had the update from officers, but asked if there was any further 
update on Wisbech Vehicle Exchange?  Councillor Oliver stated that he cannot expand any 
further than what is contained in officer’s e-mail to Members, there is another party involved 
and we have to wait until this is resolved;

 Councillor Mrs French referring again to the Business Awards asked for assurances that the 
money goes to the Cambs Times for its expenses and not towards Members to attend.  
Councillor Mason stated that this was his intention;

 Councillor Booth referring again to street drinking in Wisbech stated that it would be useful to 
know how many people are removed so Members can see how effective it is.  Councillor Oliver 
responded that he would provide this information to him;

 Councillor Booth referred to the Portfolio Holder reports in relation to Street Pride and that there 
is no mention of the Murrow group.  He feels that reports are being prepared too much in 
advance and Members are not receiving up-to-date information.  In his view, Members need at 
least the previous month before Council as they are currently looking at information that is two 
months old.  Councillor Murphy stated that all information within the reports has to be collated 
and this takes time to do.  Councillor Booth responded that, in his view, information up to 
previous month could be included.  Councillor Murphy stated that information does come out in 
the form of press releases.  Councillor Booth responded that a press release does not 
constitute a formal report to Council;

 Councillor Booth asked for an update on grass cutting.  Councillor Murphy informed Members 
that he has met with the company, they have had a bad start and are catching up fast, 
especially as the grass is now not growing as fast.  The company is being fined each month 
and the Council is not paying them as per their contract.  They have been told if they undertake 
their duties correctly, they will get paid for it.  Councillor Booth expressed the view that this is 
reassuring;

 Councillor Booth referred to the business support events mentioned in the Portfolio Holder 
reports and asked how cost effective these events are, a question which he had asked at 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel?  Councillor Mason promised to supply him with the information 
as soon as possible.

C20/18 QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
PROCEDURE RULE 9A

In accordance with Procedure Rule 9A, Helena Minton attended Council and asked the following Page 7



question to the Leader of the Council:

“I would like to ask what Fenland District Council is doing to further the ‘Growing Fenland – 
Chatteris’ Plan as part of the Market Towns Masterplan for Growth Project?”

The Leader of the Council thanked Helena for her question and stated that the Council was 
delighted to learn of the Combined Authority’s commitment to invest £150,000 in the towns of 
March, Chatteris and Whittlesey as part of their plans to create Masterplans for Growth.  He 
advised that Fenland decided to use the branding ‘Growing Fenland’ for these projects, which 
describes the planned economic growth and a nod to our agricultural heritage.

The Leader of the Council stated that the £50,000 of funding allocated to the town of Chatteris will 
be used to produce an economic masterplan for the town, identifying potential improvements and 
opportunities for future economic growth, taking into account social and environmental 
considerations.  He made the point that the purpose of the £50,000 is not to finance existing 
schemes or projects, but to produce a bespoke growth and economic plan for the town with the 
aim of identifying those initiatives that will transform the future of the town and attract even larger 
amounts of funding to help deliver these ambitious plans.

The Leader of the Council stated that a great deal of work is going on in the background since the 
Combined Authority made their initial announcements, with officers producing detailed document 
briefs to be considered by potential consultants who will work with each town to produce their 
bespoke growth and economic plan.  He advised that consultants will be asked to fully engage with 
Town, District and County Council representatives as well as members of the business and 
voluntary communities.  They will also lead on the community consultation which will ultimately 
ensure that these plans are devised by the community with each town’s individual needs and 
aspirations being fully considered.

The Leader of the Council advised that once the growth and economic proposals are produced, 
they will then be used to bid for additional funding for bigger, bolder projects, helping to secure the 
economic futures of these market towns.  The members of the Stakeholder Groups in each town 
will be kept fully up-to-date with any developments, and the public will be updated with regular 
press releases and social media posts.

The Leader of the Council asked Mrs Minton to contact him or Councillor Mason as Portfolio 
Holder for Growth if she had any further questions.

The Chairman asked Mrs Minton if she had a further follow on question she wished to ask.  Mrs 
Minton asked how the committee was chosen and made up?  The Leader of the Council advised 
that Councillor Mason is identifying those groups and would be happy to speak to Mrs Minton after 
the meeting.

C21/18 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT

Councillor Boden presented the Overview and Scrutiny Panel Annual Report for 2017/18.  He 
stated that he was in an unusual position presenting a report for 2017/18 for a committee which he 
was only appointed Chairman of for a few weeks before the end of that municipal year.  He 
congratulated Councillor Yeulett, as the previous Chairman, on a notably successful year for 
Overview and Scrutiny under his Chairmanship.

Councillor Boden referred to paragraph 5.5 of the report which lists the recommendations and 
shows the depth and breadth of the work undertaken last year and, of particular note, was the 
valuable work in scrutinising the new heating contract with Clarion Housing and the relentless 
pursuit of the LEP when that body was in some difficulty and failing to deliver in Fenland.

Page 8



Councillor Boden stated that as Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel, he hopes this year 
to match Councillor Yeulett’s success of last year.  There is an ambitious programme of work 
planned, a policy review of the Council’s Economic Development Service and the intention to open 
up the Overview and Scrutiny process to the general public to give residents an opportunity to put 
forward matters which are of importance.

Councillor Boden made the point that Overview and Scrutiny is not just within Fenland, with 
Councillor Hodgson and himself representing Fenland on the Combined Authority Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and Councillor Cornwell sitting on the Health Committee at County scrutinising 
the local health service.

Proposed by Councillor Booth, seconded by Councillor Owen and AGREED to adopt the 
report.

C22/18 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT

Councillor Clark presented the annual report for the Corporate Governance Committee.   He stated 
that this report is an opportunity to consider if the committee has effectively fulfilled its role.  Good 
corporate governance depends upon the assurances of adequate financial operational 
management and reporting, with this assurance being best delivered by a committee that is 
independent of the Cabinet and Scrutiny functions.

Councillor Clark referred to the activity of the committee outlined in the work programme and 
outcomes shown within the report.  He made the point that the CIPFA checklist was completed 
assessing the committee’s compliance with a range of activities deemed essential for committees 
of this nature.  There is a high degree of compliance with only minor areas with partial compliance 
and the areas of non-compliance relate to differences in terminology and do not represent a risk to 
the authority.

Councillor Clark made the point that external auditor confirmed the continued maintenance of high 
financial management in control standards.  The annual audit letter explains that all significant 
respects of the Council make proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources and an unqualified value for money conclusion was given.

He thanked the committee, the previous chairman, Councillor Buckton, and officers, especially 
Kathy Woodward, Mark Saunders and Brendan Arnold as his CMT support.

Councillor Sutton stated that he was pleased to be back on Corporate Governance Committee and 
it was his pleasure to congratulate the financial team led by Brendan Arnold, with it being a real 
shame for the Council to have lost him, but also to Mark Saunders and Kathy Woodward who do a 
fantastic job. 

Proposed by Councillor Seaton, seconded by Councillor Boden and AGREED that the 
report be adopted.

C23/18 HOUSING ENFORCEMENT POLICY

Councillor Mrs Laws presented the Housing Enforcement Policy, which is one of the key building 
blocks for the work that is already underway in implementing Councillor Cornwell’s Private Rented 
Sector improvement plan.  She stated that the policy sets out for openness and transparency to 
tenants, agents and landlords the range of powers available to the Council contained in legislation 
that has been utilised on a day to day basis for many years.

Councillor Mrs Laws stated that whilst the policy can look scary from a landlord’s perspective, the 
Council will work under the framework of the Corporate Enforcement Policy which ensures 

Page 9



prevention and intervention before enforcement wherever possible.  She believes landlords who 
engaged with Councillor Cornwell’s task and finish group expressed the view that the Council’s 
approach should not punish good landlords, which she feels this policy takes into account and if 
you are a good landlord you have nothing to fear.

Councillor Mrs Laws advised that the policy sets out some changes to how the Council operates 
some of its existing powers alongside an approach to some new powers that have recently 
become available.  In summary, the new policy sets out:

 the broad range of powers available to the Council to tackle the management and condition of 
the housing stock

 a proposal that the Council will start to charge for when a notice needs to be served where the 
legislation allows the flexibility to do so

 a proposal to charge for non-statutory housing inspections where requested to do so by a 
landlord or agent to help with the development of their business

 a proposal to introduce a Civil Penalty process for certain offences, which are now allowed 
under the Housing and Planning Act 2016, whereby the Council can take civil action with a 
maximum fine of up to £30,000.  This is an alternative to prosecution through the courts which 
is what the Council currently undertakes

 a proposal to utilise a Rent Repayment Order which requires landlords, who have been proved 
to not fulfil their statutory requirements for the condition and management of a home, to repay 
an amount of rent that they received either directly back to the tenant, or if relevant back to the 
public sector through public subsidy as the tenant qualified to receive it

 that the Government has also proposed that it will be extending the mandatory Housing in 
Multiple Occupation scheme to include properties that are less than three storey, which comes 
into force in October, with the Council setting a fee based on a full cost recovery model.

Councillor Mrs Laws informed members that the policy was subject to consultation between 23 
April to 17 June 2018, which included a letter to 216 known landlords.  She stated that 9 
responses were received, with changes made to the policy.  Further additional powers have been 
included relating to Energy Performance Certificates in partnership with the County Council and 
feedback received from the Overview and Scrutiny Panel has been incorporated.

Members made comments, asked questions and received responses as follows:

 Councillor Boden stated that as Councillor Mrs Laws said this policy was referred in draft form 
to Overview and Scrutiny Panel.  The Panel made suggestions and recommendations for 
improvements and correction, particularly emphasising the need for prevention and information 
before enforcement.  He thanked Councillor Mrs Laws and officers for incorporating every 
positive suggestion made.

 Councillor Tierney expressed the view that he thinks it is important that when we are heading 
on the wrong path to recognise it and a year ago we nearly did take the wrong path, the options 
were looked at taking time to think about it, with lots of Councillors being involved in that and 
speaking to many groups and landlords.  Another view was taken and what is happening now 
under Councillor Mrs Laws’ leadership is excellent.  Landlords appreciate it, they grumble about 
it as it is quite tough on them, but they recognise that it is fair because a lot of things are what 
they told us is what we should be doing and that is the balance in trying to get a situation where 
you are tough but not so tough.

 Councillor Booth supported the comments of Councillor Tierney, it demonstrates that what we 
have done is identify the powers we have and use them in the first instance and not seek more 
powers for the sake of it.  He made the point that a couple of issues that he raised at Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel have not been taken fully on board.  He referred to the cost of the Housing 
Act Notice and had queried how this was calculated as he is not convinced the figure is correct Page 10



and the balance needs to be at the right level, as with planning pre-application discussions, as 
people will not use the service.  Councillor Booth expressed the view that the replacement 
wording in relation to registered authorities, ie Housing Associations, he is not entirely happy 
with, but recognises that it is a lot better than what was there and acknowledges the fact that 
we are not going to give Housing Associations an easy ride and that, he feels, is an important 
message.

It was proposed by Councillor Tierney, seconded by Councillor Booth and AGREED that the 
Housing Enforcement Policy be adopted.

(Councillors Hodgson and Humphrey declared a non-pecuniary interest in this item, by virtue of 
having family members that are landlords.  Councillor Hodgson requested it be recorded that he 
abstained from voting)

(Councillors Benney, Clark, Mrs Cox, Connor, Count, Skoulding and Sutton declared a pecuniary 
interest in this item, by virtue of being landlords, and retired from the meeting for the duration of the 
discussion and voting thereon)  

(Councillor Hoy declared a pecuniary interest in this item, by virtue of the nature of her 
employment, and retired from the meeting for the duration of the discussion and voting thereon)

C24/18 CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY

Councillor Mrs Hay presented the Corporate Enforcement Policy.  She stated that this is a refresh 
of an existing policy that was considered in 2014 and revision is needed to ensure it is fit for 
purpose in the types of prevention, intervention and enforcement provided by the Council in 
undertaking its regulatory functions.

Councillor Mrs Hay stated that the changes will ensure the Council can utilise flexibility, with an 
example of this being the new opportunities to improve the condition and management of homes in 
Fenland contained in the Housing Enforcement Policy.  She summarised that the key changes to 
the updated policy include some minor wording changes to better explain the policy and how it will 
be used, updating the policy to reflect that the Council may charge for some notices to be issued 
and undertaking a civil penalty prosecution route rather than through the courts where legislation 
allows.

Councillor Mrs Hay informed members that a consultation process took place between 23 April to 
17 June 2018 to seek the views of the Fenland community on the proposed changes, along with 
promotion through normal media channels and letters being sent to 1797 businesses.  A survey 
was developed, with 6 being completed, and during the consultation, Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
met and considered the policy.  She stated that overall there was support for the proposed 
changes.

Proposed by Councillor Boden, seconded by Councillor Sutton and AGREED to adopt the 
Corporate Enforcement Policy.

C25/18 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT UPDATE

Councillor Mason informed members that at Cabinet earlier today it was agreed to defer 
consideration of any proposals in relation to the Economic Development Service pending the 
outcome of an Overview and Scrutiny Member-Led Review into this important policy area for the 
Council.

Councillor Mason stated that he was keen to hear the outcome of the review to find the best way 
forward for the Council and pledged his full cooperation to the Chairman of Overview and Scrutiny 

Page 11



Panel and his team.

It was AGREED to defer this item until the Overview and Scrutiny Member-Led review into 
Economic Development has reported back to Cabinet.

C26/18 APPOINTMENT OF ACTING MONITORING OFFICER AND NOTIFICATION OF 
ACTING DEPUTY MONITORING OFFICER

Councillor Seaton informed members that Carol Pilson, the Council’s Monitoring Officer and 
Corporate Director, will be commencing a period of maternity leave from 31 August 2018.  To 
ensure adequate coverage for the Monitoring Officer role it is suggested that Amy Brown, Senior 
Solicitor at Peterborough City Council, fulfils the role of Acting Monitoring Officer during this period 
of maternity leave.

Councillor Seaton advised members that Amy is currently Deputy Monitoring Officer at 
Peterborough City Council and, therefore, has a wide range of knowledge and experience of 
governance, code of conduct and constitutional matters.  She has regularly supported this Council 
through the Service Level Agreement the Council has with Peterborough City Council for the 
provision of legal advice, therefore, is already familiar with the organisation, its culture and its aims 
and objectives.  Amy will be on site at the Council offices 3 days per week, but will operate flexibly 
to meet the needs of the Council.

Councillor Seaton informed members that it is also the intention that Anna Goodall, Head of 
Governance and Customer Services, becomes Acting Deputy Monitoring Officer for the Council 
during this period.

It was proposed by Councillor Sutton, seconded by Councillor Murphy and AGREED to:

 approve the appointment of Amy Brown, Senior Solicitor for Peterborough City Council, 
as the Acting Monitoring Officer for the Council, with effect from 31 August 2018 to 
cover a period of maternity leave.  These arrangements will come into effect from 31 
August 2018, unless the maternity leave date is required to commence before this point, 
which will require these arrangements to commence with immediate effect

 approve that Fenland District Council enter into a Section 113 (of the Local Government 
Act 1972) agreement for the Acting Monitoring Officer to be able to carry out their duties

 note the appointment of Anna Goodall, Head of Governance and Customer Services, as 
Acting Deputy Monitoring Officer for the Council with effect from 31 August 2018 (or 
earlier as outlined above) during the period in which Amy Brown is Acting Monitoring 
Officer.

(Councillor King requested it be recorded that he abstained from voting on this item)

(Amy Brown and Anna Goodall left the room for this item for the duration of the discussion and 
voting thereon)

C27/18 MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEES, PANELS AND OUTSIDE BODIES

Councillor Seaton informed members that since Annual Council in May there have been some 
changes to the political make-up of the Council, which needs to be reflected in the political 
proportionality of committees and panels.  To accommodate all political groups’ entitlement to 
seats on committees, it is necessary to increase the number of seats on Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel from 11 to 12.  In addition to the political proportionality changes, there is also a new outside 
body; the March Area Transport Study Group.

Page 12



It was proposed by Councillor Mrs French, seconded by Councillor Connor and AGREED to 

 increase the number of members on the Overview and Scrutiny Panel from 11 to 12 to 
accommodate all political groups’ entitlement to seats on committees

 adopt the schedule of political allocations as set out in the appendices to the report.

C28/18 CONSTITUTIONAL UPDATE

Councillor Seaton reminded members that at the last meeting of Council, members approved the 
incorporation of the Combined Authority into the Leader’s Portfolio, and to enable him to take 
urgent decisions relating to it.  It has since been identified that the same provisions could usefully 
be extended to all portfolio holders to ensure that there are adequate provisions in place for 
executive decisions to be taken by individual Cabinet member in urgent circumstances.  However, 
these powers would only be called upon in exceptional circumstances and would be subject to the 
agreement of the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel.

Councillor Booth made the point that there is a need to ensure that checks and balances exist for 
its use, which could be undertaken in the annual report to Overview and Scrutiny Panel detailing 
where this provision has been used.  Councillor Seaton stated that he is sure this could be 
accommodated.

Proposed by Councillor Mrs Laws, seconded by Councillor Boden and AGREED to approve 
the amendments and to delegate to the Monitoring Officer to update the Constitution as 
follows:

Page F.41 - Part 3, Responsibility for Functions - Table 5 - Functions Delegated to All 
Portfolio Holders

Insert a new heading under ‘All Portfolio Holders’ to read:

“All portfolio holders, including the Leader, have delegated authority to take executive 
decisions on behalf of the Council in circumstances where the matter is urgent. A decision 
will be urgent if any delay would seriously prejudice the Council’s or the public interest.  
The request for a decision to be deemed urgent will be considered by the Chairman of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel (in accordance with Rules of Procedure 2 and 5) and the 
relevant member of the Corporate Management Team/Chief Executive who will take into 
account the reasons provided.  The decision will only be taken if the Chairman of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel and the relevant member of the Corporate Management 
Team/Chief Executive agree that the decision is a matter of urgency.  The decision will be 
recorded via a Cabinet Member Decision Notice and the public record of the decision will 
state:  

(a) Why in the opinion of the decision making person and the relevant member of 
Corporate Management Team/Chief Executive, the decision is urgent; and

(b) The consent of the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel.

In the absence of the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel, Rules of Procedure 2 
will apply.” 

Delete the heading ‘The Leader’ and paragraph 1 directly below that.
Page 13



5.15 pm                     Chairman

Page 14



 
 

Fenland District Council  Fenland Hall  County Road  March  Cambridgeshire  PE15 8NQ 
Tel  01354 622281   Fax  01354 606917   DX 30955 March   Minicom  01354 622215   

www.fenland.gov.uk 
 

 
 

Civic Engagements 
 

From 17 May 2018 to 12 September 2018 
 

Monday 21 May City of Ely Mayor Making 
Attended by the Chairman 
 

Thursday 24 May Huntingdon Town Council Freedom of Town Parade 
Attended by the Chairman 
 

Sunday 3 June St Ives Civic Parade 
Attended by the Chairman  
 

Wednesday 6 June Reserve Forces and Cadet Association Forum 
Attended by  the Chairman 
 

Sunday 10 June Market Deeping Town Council Civic Service 
Attended by the  Chairman 
 

Wednesday 13 June RAF Alconbury Civic Leaders Tour 
Attended by the Chairman  
 

Thursday 14 June Bishop of Ely Garden Party 
Attended by the  Chairman 
 

Sunday 17 June Peterborough Civic Service 
Attended by the Chairman 
 

Monday 18 June  NSPCC Annual General Meeting 
Attended by the Chairman 
 

Friday 29 June  Fenland District Council Armed Forces Day Event 
Attended by the Chairman and Vice Chairman 
  

Saturday 30 June St Ives Freedom of the Town Armed Forces Day 
Attended by the Chairman 
 

Sunday 1 July High Sherriff Summer Reception 
Attended by the Chairman 
 

Tuesday 3 July RAF Alconbury Independence Day Event 
Attended by the Chairman  
 

Wednesday 4 July Wisbech Rose Fair Gala Evening 
Attended by the Chairman 
 

Thursday 5 July Nettetal Civic Reception 
Attended by the Chairman and Vice Chairman 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 3

http://www.fenland.gov.uk/


Civic Engagements continued 
 

Friday 6 July Wisbech Grammar School Speech Day 
Attended by the Chairman 
 

Saturday 7 July Nettetal Civic Dinner 
Attended by the Chairman and Vice Chairman 
 

Sunday 8 July Nettetal Farewell Hog Roast 
Attended by the Chairman and Vice Chairman 
 

Friday 27 July Ramsey Mayors Cup Charity Football Event 
Attended by the Chairman 
 

Sunday 19 August Ramsey 1940s Event 
Attended by the Chairman 
 

Sunday 2 September Ramsey Civic Service and Freedom of the Town 
Attended by the Chairman 
 
Sutton Bridge RAF Memorial Service 
Attended by the Vice Chairman 
 

Monday 3 September RAF Wyton Commemoration and Reaffirmation Parade 
Attended by the Chairman 
 

Friday 7 September St Augustine Church Commemoration Event 
Attended by the Chairman 
 
Oasis Centre Event 
Attended by the Chairman 
 

Sunday 9 September Hunstanton Civic Service 
Attended by the Chairman 
 
Ramsey Heritage Day Tour 
Attended by the Vice Chairman 

 

Page 16



1 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Cabinet and 
Corporate Management Team 

 
 

Portfolio Holder Briefing Report 
 
 
 
 

August 2018 
(For performance in July 2018) 

 
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



2 

 

Cabinet Members 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Councillor 
Chris Seaton 

Leader of the Council 
 

Councillor 
David Mason 

Cabinet Member for 
Growth 

 

Councillor 
Mike Cornwell 

Cabinet Member for 
Communities 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Councillor 
Peter Murphy 

Cabinet Member for 
Environment 

 

Councillor 
David Oliver 

Cabinet Member for 
Community Safety & 

Heritage 

 

Councillor 
Anne Hay 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Councillor 
Dee Laws 

Cabinet Member for 
Neighbourhood 

Planning 

 

Councillor 
Mark Buckton 

Cabinet Member for 
Leisure & Young 

People 

 

Page 18



3 

 

BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Communities 
 
Business Plan Priority: Support vulnerable members of our community 
 
Business Plan Action: Support residents to maximise their income by accessing 

the benefits they are entitled to.  Process applications for 
Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support quickly and 
accurately through our shared service (Anglia Revenues 
Partnership; ARP) 

 
Business Plan Action: Support residents in managing the effects of welfare 

reform changes by working with partners, including 
Jobcentre Plus and the CAB, and helping them access 
Universal Credits online 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mrs Anne Hay 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
(in-month 

only)  

Cumulative for 
18/19 

Variance 

Performance Measure     
Fenland target ARP1 
Days taken to process Council 
Tax Support new 
claims and changes 

 8 days 6.68 8.8 +0.2 

Fenland target ARP2 
Days taken to process Housing 
Benefit new 
claims and changes 

8 days 6.8 7.7 +0.3 

 
This month we have seen the improvement we expected and exceeded the targets  
for both Council Tax Support and Housing Benefit claims and changes by processing 
them both in under 7 days. 
 
This has brought our YTD totals to within target. 
 
We continue to prioritise new claims, are carrying out additional checks on pended 
claims and have a campaign running to deal with ‘quick changes’. The team are also 
carrying out 100% checks on earnings cases with the help of QA and the new recruits, 
who are now working alongside the team, continue to work on specific work areas. 
 

 
 

Page 19



4 

 

BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Communities  
 
Business Plan Priority:  Support vulnerable members of our community 
 
Business Plan Action: Deliver the Homelessness Strategy and housing 

duties. Work with the Home Improvement Agency 
to award Disabled Facilities Grants 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mrs Dee Laws 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

Variance 

Performance Measure     
LPI CEL1 
Total number of private rented 
homes where positive action 
has been taken to address 
safety and cohesion issues 

200 15 63  

 
At the end of July 2018, The Council had provided 12 positive interventions on new 
requests for service for Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) across the district.  
 
The Council had also investigated 51 complaints from tenants occupying privately 
rented accommodation in the same period. Council Officers intervened to remove 
Category 1 hazards (serious faults) and Category 2 hazards (less serious faults) from 
properties to make them safe for the residents. 
 
The geographical spread is as follows: 
 
                                    HMOs inspected                     Privately Rented Homes investigated 
 
Wisbech                                   12                                                           27          
March                                       0                                                            10 
Chatteris                                   0                                                              0 
Whittlesey                                 0                                                              5 
Villages                                     0                                                              9 
 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement – Controlling Migration fund project  
Performance 
 
The council continued to conduct house inspections in Wisbech.  After initial informal 
engagement a few landlords have failed to carry out the remedial work identified 
and therefore the officers will be serving formal chargeable notices following the 
recently adopted Housing Enforcement Policy.  
 
 
 

Page 20



5 

 

 
The table below identifies the officers’ interventions in the last month which reflects 
their current priorities.  
 

Measure July Cumulative 
Total Number of Properties Inspected  156 848 
Enforcement Actions Taken (see table below) 82 275 
Information Packs Issued 29 92 
Smoke Detectors brought into use 25 80 
Hazards Removed 20 55 

 
Breakdown of Actions  
 

Smoke Detector defect letters (Private Rented Sector) 66 
Smoke Detector advisory letters (Owner Occupied) 57 
Formal Inspection Appointment Letters 16 
Notice requesting Information  4 
Informal Letter requesting remedial repair 62 
HMO declaration notices 16 

  
The actions undertaken by the council help to ensure that residents can live safely in 
their private rented homes and landlords are aware of their responsibilities.    
 

 
Description Target 18/19 Achieved  

 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
Variance 

Performance Measure     
LPI 
Number of households 
prevented from becoming 
homeless 

200 19 71  

 
Homeless individuals and families have been assisted in a variety of ways.  The Housing 
Options team and Trailblazer team have been able to keep households in their homes 
either by debt management or mediation. Other households have been assisted by 
being found alternative accommodation so that they didn’t face homelessness. 
 
Breakdown: 
Mediation = 11 
Debt Advice = 8 
Resolve rent arrears = 7 
Private rented with deposit support = 16 
Private rented without deposit support = 15 
Housing Register Offer = 3 
Supported Accommodation = 11 
 
 

Page 21



6 

 

Rough sleepers -Controlling Migration Fund project 
The Council’s Migrant Outreach Worker is currently working with 14 rough sleepers in 
Wisbech.  Regular visits are made with Police and Inclusion (drug and alcohol 
outreach service). Housing options, advice and sign posting is offered in order to 
provide routes out of rough sleeping for these individuals. Options for training and work 
are also offered.   
 
Modern Slavery  
The council, in partnership with the Gangmasters and Labour Abuse Authority (GLAA), 
The Police and Red Cross facilitated a successful reception centre for potential victims 
of modern slavery.  The operation led to an arrest as part of the action undertaken, 
statements taken from the potential victims with the Council and Red Cross providing 
the necessary support to the victims.    
   

Description Monthly Cumulative 
for 2018/19 

% 

Total number of Households approaching to the 
Housing Options Team 

162 618 N/A 

Total number household receiving advice only for 
example not homeless but advice needed 

75 313 N/A 

Total number of Personal Housing Plans created 
i.e. there is a risk of homelessness and an action 
plan has been created to hopefully prevent the 
homelessness taking affect. 

38 187 N/A 

i. Number of formal Homeless decisions made.   0 0 N/A 
Successful outcomes in Prevention stage 
(household had their issue resolved within 56 
days) 

11 
out of 

17  

36 out 
of 46 

78% 

Ii Successful outcomes in Relief stage  
 

17 
out of 

19 

30 out 
of 32 

94% 

 
Statistic for Wales  Prevention 62%  Relief 42% 
 

I .This is where the personal housing plan has not resolved the problem leading to 
the need for a formal decision to be taken under the legislation.  In 17/18 we 
made 159 decisions and experience in Wales and Southwark indicate this should 
be much lower under the new Act. 
 
Ii (cases that came to us too late for prevention stage i.e. households were 
awaiting court action to end their tenancy or they lost their last settled 
accommodation, which meant the Council had to provide some alternative 
form of accommodation whilst the household and the Council work on a 
personal housing plan.  During the 56 day “relief period” they had their housing 
issue resolved). 

 

Page 22



7 

 

 
 

Homelessness Trailblazer Project Update 
 

 
The work of early prevention across the Fenland led Trailblazer project continues to 
make a valuable difference to people’s lives and wellbeing within Cambridgeshire 
and Peterborough. 
 
Since the start of the project in August 2017, there have been 742 referrals (312 
Fenland related and the highest rate of referrals across Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough) from individuals and partner agencies requesting help to prevent 
homeless families and individuals from becoming homeless. 
 
The Trailblazer team are working with social and private sector landlords to prevent 
homelessness including through mediation, debt advice and financial advice. 
 
A specialist Landlord Rent Solution service is in place within Trailblazer and our Housing 
Options Team to support landlords in managing tenancy issues including support and 
advice, to avoid the need to take court action and evict tenants. 
 

 
Description Target 18/19 Achieved  

 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
Variance 

Performance Measure     
LPI 
Number of homes adapted to 
assist vulnerable disabled 
residents to remain in their home 

130 11 47  

 
Through this scheme the Council provides adaptation works for elderly and disabled 
home owners and tenants to remain safe, secure and protected in their own homes. 
At the end of July 2018, The Council has assisted 47 households with adaptation works.  
 
The geographical spread is as follows: 
                             
Wisbech                        16                                                                                                     
March                            12                                                                                  
Chatteris                        3                                                                                          
Whittlesey                      5                                                                                           
Other villages                11                                                                                    
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



8 

 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
End June 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

Variance 

Performance Measure     
MPI 
Number of households receiving 
the Handyperson service 
(Annual) 

125 65 65  

 
Between April and June 2018, the project facilitated interactions with 65 households in 
Fenland.  32 grab rails were fitted, there were also 20 hospital discharges (bed moves 
and installation of key safes) and 46 onward referrals to other agencies including 
social care, fire service, the Bobby Scheme, home energy checks and Occupational 
therapy. 
 
The Project aims to keep people living independently and safely in their own homes 
and prevent bed blocking of high demand and costly hospital beds.   
 

 
 Description Baseline Target 

18/19 
No of 

customers 
who 

responded 
 

No of 
customers 
satisfied 

 

% 
18/19 

Variance 

Disabled Facilities 
Grants: 
% of residents who felt 
that the work 
undertaken to adapt 
their property made 
their life easier ( 1 
year on survey) 

96% 90% 2 2 100  

 
2 household responded to the survey in July 18 for this performance measure.  
 
10 surveys have been completed for the financial year so far culminating in 
satisfaction score of 100% 
 

 
Description Baseline Target Q1-

4 17/18 
No of 

customers 
who 

responded  

No of 
customers 
satisfied 

% 
17/18 

Variance 

Handyperson 
Scheme: 
 
% of residents who 
rate the improvement 
to their daily life as 

100% 85% 305 300 98%  

Page 24



9 

 

being better or much 
better as a result of 
the Handyperson 
service (annual) 

 
Feedback from customers included: 
 
‘My handyperson worked non-stop from the moment he came into the house and left 
and completed the list of tasks consulting me when necessary.  Very impressed! 
 
‘This is the best ramp I have ever seen, well done!’ 
 
‘The workman was very helpful, polite, kind and extremely tidy.  I would recommend 
him most highly to anybody.’ 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Communities  
 
Business Plan Priority:  Support vulnerable members of our community 
 
Business Plan Action: Work with partners to build capacity and resilience 

so that residents can support themselves and the 
community 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mike Cornwell 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

Variance 

Performance Measure     
MPI 
Percentage of DWP customers 
who feel more confident to 
access work as a result of this 
project 

90% 100% (3) 100% (3)  

 
3 exit surveys have been completed by customers accessing the service currently, 29 
clients are currently receiving support. 
 
Feedback from clients has included: 
 
‘Help with Job Search has helped me gain valuable experience and the confidence 
to find a job’. DL 
 
‘If you need one to one support, the team are there to help and make you feel very 
welcome’. VP 
 

 

Page 25



10 

 

 
Community Locally Led Development (CLLD) 

 
 
The council has submitted a bid under the CLLD fund to continue work with vulnerable 
people at the Community House as part of the Department for Works and Pensions 
project around employment support.  It is anticipated that the result of the bid will be 
known shortly.  
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Communities  
 
Business Plan Priority:  Support vulnerable members of our community 
 
Business Plan Action: Encourage a range of partners to support the 

delivery of the Golden Age programme to support 
older people 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mike Cornwell 
 

 
Golden Age Events 
 
 
There was no Golden Age Fair held in July, but planning for the next Fair at the Queen 
Mary Centre on September 10th has already started. There are 25 partners who have 
confirmed their attendance and invitations have also gone out to the Mayor of 
Wisbech and the local Member of Parliament. Radio Cambridgeshire have also been 
contacted and they will either do a live piece from the event, or attend to gather 
information and interviews for a pre-recorded segment. 
 
Further research in to the County’s Innovate and Cultivate Fund is on-going with 
places being secured at an advisory session run by the County on 24th September, with 
a view to potentially submitting a bid (s) to the fund using the Golden Age brand.  
 

 

Page 26



11 

 

Business Plan Priority:  Support vulnerable members of our community 
 
Business Plan Action: Deliver the Wisbech 2020 Action Plan across the 

themes of Education and Skills, Health, Wellbeing 
and Cohesion, Infrastructure and the Built 
Environment, and Local Economy 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Chris Seaton 

 
 
Wisbech 2020 Update 
 
 
Report to Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
Members of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee received a presentation on the 
progress and achievements of the Wisbech 2020 Vision project at their recent 
committee meeting held on 30 July. 
 
As well as receiving a history of the project, members received updates on recent 
achievements which include: 
 

- The opening of an Anglian Water training facility at the College of West Anglia 
- Arts workshops held in the Wisbech library for over 300 children with links to the 

Wisbech Reads festival 
- The success of the Crowded Room artwork project, which is currently being 

displayed in The Boathouse 
- Numerous positive outcomes achieved through the Controlling Migration Fund 

projects 
- Progress on transport improvements, such as the GRIP 3 study for the Wisbech to 

March rail link and the potential dualling of the A47 
- New and affordable private housing built on the Nene Waterfront Site  
- The expansion of the Cromwell Road retail and commercial area 
- The Wisbech Community Regeneration Guide, which highlights the work of the 

Business in the Community Connectors and how they link into the Wisbech 2020 
Vision  project 

- The success of the Wisbech High Street project 
 
Members were shown how the Wisbech 2020 Vision project closely links to other 
projects being delivered in the area, such as: 
 

- Wisbech Garden Town Proposals 
- Wisbech High Street Project 
- Prevention at Scale work 
- The recent Pride of Place announcement 
- The new Growing Fenland project 
- The results of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Independent Economic 

Review (CPIER) 

Page 27



12 

 

 
One of the presenters of the update was Russell Beal of Anglian Water.  Russell has 
recently been appointed as the Head of Programme for the Wisbech 2020 
Vision project and will be driving forward progress against the actions in the vision 
document.  Russell will also be focussing on improved engagement with businesses 
and the 3rd sector, as well as improving communications. Russell’s services and those 
of associated project management support has kindly been seconded from the 
Wisbech 2020 partner Anglian Water free of charge for an 18 month period as part of 
its ongoing contribution to the project. 
 

 
 
Prevention at Scale Update 
 
 
Supported by the Local Government Association, this project is primarily a public 
health initiative working with 3rd Sector organisations in Wisbech and is aimed at 
community development and engagement.   
 
Support Cambridgeshire are Project managing the programme.  
 
A Core Group was established to deliver the project in April, consisting of statutory, 
voluntary sector and other engaged stakeholders. 
 
The project plan consists of a number of distinct strands of work, with progress made in 
the following areas: 
 
Community Mapping: 
Work is underway to map existing 3rd sector providers across Wisbech linked to health 
and wellbeing to understand the issues and challenges they currently face. Over 20 
providers have input into this exercise. It is anticipated that through the life of this 
programme a heat map and directory will be produced for wider community use.  
 
Community consultation: 
The project seeks to consult widely with Wisbech communities to understand what 
they see as their challenges and opportunities linked to living or working in Wisbech 
and to capture what they feel they could do themselves to meet such challenges 
and opportunities.  
 
Much of the discussion within the core group has been focussed on the constitution of 
Wisbech – who do we want to connect with and how hard or easy is this likely to be.  
It is envisaged that the community consultation will be ready for an early October 
2018 launch to market and will also help inform the forthcoming work to refresh the 
Wisbech 2020 strategy and action plan. 
 

 

Page 28



13 

 

BUSINESS PLAN AREA: Communities 
 

Business Plan Priority: Promote Health & Wellbeing for all 
 
Business Plan Action: Deliver the Council’s Leisure Strategy 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mark Buckton 

 
Description Target 18/19 

July 
Achieved  

July 
Cumulative for 
18/19 to June 

Variance 

Performance Measure     
LPI LS1 
Number of paid visits to our 
leisure centres 

69,988 75,169 290,061 
 

(target 
276,816) 

 

 
Leisure centres continue to perform well this year, with visits to the swimming pools up 
in the recent warmer months.  Income levels continue to exceed targets and levels 
achieved last year.  Customer satisfaction remains high, with a positive buzz around all 
centres. 
 
In the past 2 months centre managers have taken on Facebook posts regarding the 
centres and this has led to more posts that are timely and of interest to our customers.  
The posts frequently include information about customer successes, further 
emphasising the good job that the centres are doing for the Fenland community. 
 

 
 
Leisure Procurement 
 
 
Following the full Council decision, FDC has been undertaking a procurement process 
to secure a partner to operate and manage our four leisure centres on the Council’s 
behalf. 
 
That process has now been completed and a formal decision has been taken to 
award a contract to Freedom Leisure to operate and manage our leisure facilities for 
a 15 year period.  
 
Freedom Leisure were established in April 2002, as a not for profit leisure trust. The 
company currently manages 86 leisure facilities, mainly in the south and west of 
England, as well as Wales, employing some 3,000 staff. 
 
With a procurement of this nature, the Council is required to observe a 10 day 
standstill period prior to commencing work with Freedom Leisure to implement the 
mobilisation phase of the project. It is anticipated that the handover of the leisure 
facilities will take place by the end of the year.   

Page 29



14 

 

 
This decision secures a positive outcome for our leisure centre customers, whilst 
delivering significant savings of around £351,000 per year for the Council.  
 

 
 
Active Fenland Update 
 
 
The Council’s Active Fenland team continues to deliver activity sessions across the 
District in convenient community locations, at an affordable cost.  Promotion of 
sessions continues to utilise either Facebook advertising and post, or word of mouth 
from attendees to like-minded people that they know. 
 
The effectiveness of the Active Fenland programme has led to a similar approach 
being used in other Districts in the County. 
 
Fenland’s Active Families programme is starting to deliver to communities over the 
holiday.  The focus is in deprived wards in Wisbech where ‘Fit and Fed’ sessions have 
been run for families.  These sessions consist of activity sessions in a community setting, 
along with the opportunity for children to make food to eat on the day.  This fills the 
gap left with children not receiving school meals over the holiday period. 
 
The groundwork for delivery of the Controlling Migration Funded work place 
programme is being put in place.  Effective planning and measurement and 
evaluation of projects is crucial in the first phase of a project in order that the delivery 
phase rolls out successfully.  It is anticipated that delivery will take place from 
September in larger employers within Fenland.  
 

 
What do our customers say? 
Description Baseline Target 

18/19 
No of 

customers 
who 

responded 
 

No of 
customers 
satisfied 

 

% 
18/19 

Varianc
e 

LPI CEL5 
82% of those asked 
who are satisfied with 
FDC’s Leisure Centres 

90% 90% 330 302 92%  

 
Customer satisfaction within FDC’s leisure centres continues to exceed targets, and 
ranks above expectations nationally, using a nationally recognised benchmarking 
system.  
 
This indicates that Fenland customers who have responded to surveys are significantly 
more satisfied with our service than the average leisure centre customer in the UK. 

Page 30



15 

 

BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Communities  
 
Business Plan Priority:  Promote health and wellbeing for all 
 
Business Plan Action: Reduce inequality and deprivation by working 

collaboratively with others and deliver the Council’s 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy to tackle our local health 
priorities, including mental wellbeing 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mike Cornwell and Cllr David Oliver 

 
 
Wisbech Alcohol Project 
 
 
The Wisbech Alcohol Partnership held a meeting in July with attendance from Fenland 
District Council, Inclusion (Drugs and Alcohol support service), CGL (organisation 
working with street homeless through Controlling Migration Funding), Richmond 
Fellowship and the Horsefair Security team. 
 
The Local Alcohol Action Area project plan was reviewed and updated by project 
leads.  
 
The weekly recovery walks which include visits to the night shelter continue to be a 
partnership focus to support identified persons at risk of alcohol misuse and harm. The 
newly recruited outreach officer attended the partnership meeting to introduce 
herself and to better understand the multi-agency approach.  
Due to a successful recruitment process both job posts are now filled and recovery 
walks are now being increased which will help during the peak season for street 
drinking activity.  
 
Partnership officers also reviewed the current fixed penalty notice data to date for 
breaches of the alcohol related Public Spaces Protection Orders (PSPO) with a 
number of actions agreed to be progressed by selected partners.  
 
The next Wisbech Alcohol Partnership meeting is due to take place in September 
where a further update will be provided. 
 
Discarded needles 
The Council, with support from wider partners and services, is responding to 
highlighted concerns, mainly in the Wisbech Horsefair toilets, on discarded needles 
which currently remain closed.  
 
To date, meetings and discussions have been held with the Horsefair Shopping centre 
manager to fully understand the scope of the problem which has led to further 
discussions being held with the local substance misuse treatment provider (Inclusion) 
to develop a localised action plan.  

Page 31



16 

 

 
As the toilets remain closed the Council has written to the landlord to explore if there is 
any way forward to getting the toilet facilities re-opened in light of the ongoing 
partnership work to tackle the discarded needle issue.  
 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Peter Murphy & Cllr Mike Cornwell 

 
 
Energy Conservation 
 
 
Following the completion of the latest Community Energy Switch auction, 29 
households have opted to switch to EON who won the auction after offering the most 
competitive tariff.  Those who have signed up for the scheme look to save on average 
£200 per on their energy bill by switching.  This equates to around £7,000 saved for 
local residents.  For those who have taken up the opportunity, IChoosr will handle the 
whole process on behalf of the customer.  
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Communities  
 
Business Plan Priority: Work with partners to promote Fenland through culture and 

heritage 
 
Business Plan Action: Work with local stakeholders to develop a Culture Strategy 

for Fenland; strengthening the links between the wider 
Fenland communities and promoting the area to people 
outside the district, including supporting the development 
of Must Farm in Whittlesey 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mark Buckton 

 
 
Culture Strategy Update 

 
 
Work to develop the stakeholder group has continued through networking with the 
Arts Council and Festival Bridge East Anglia. 
 
The next steps will be to arrange a broader stakeholder meeting and identifying best 
practice from other councils. 
 

 

Page 32



17 

 

BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Environment 
 
Business Plan Priority: Deliver a high performing refuse, recycling and 

street cleansing service 
 
Business Plan Action: Work with partners, the community and volunteers 

to divert at least 50% of Cambridgeshire’s 
household waste from landfill  

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Peter Murphy 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
June 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

Variance 

Performance Measure     
LPI CEL8 
% of collected household waste 
– blue bin recycling 

28% 28% 28%  

 
Collected Household Waste Blue Bin Recycling  
 

 
April 18 May 18 June 18 

Dry Recycling (Blue Bin) 729 756 725 
Residual Waste (Green Bin)  1,873 1,899 1,903 
Dry Recycling % of waste 28% 28% 28% 

 
Collected blue bin waste is on target and contributes positively to the recycling of 
household waste in the area. The 2,202 tonnes of dry recycling so far this year is 
encouraging, although there remains more work that can be done and much still that 
customers unnecessarily choose to go to landfill.  
 

 
Description Target 18/19 Achieved  

 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
Variance 

Performance Measure     
MPI  
% missed bins collected the next 
working day 

92% 95% 96%  

 
Missed Collections July (Blue and Green Bins) 
 

 July 18 
Missed Collections Reported 160 
Collected next working day 152 
Percentage  95% 

 
The total number of missed brown bin collections reported in July was 65. 
 

Page 33



18 

 

BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Environment 
 
Business Plan Priority: Deliver a high performing refuse, recycling and 

street cleansing service 
 
Business Plan Action: Maximise the value of materials collected for 

recycling, including through Recycling Champions 
 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Peter Murphy 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved 
June 

 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

Variance 

Performance Measure     
MPI  
Income generated through 
recycling materials 

£285,000 £26,269 £81,192  

 
Low levels of income from the recycling materials being processed by the Council’s 
contractor, Amey Cespa at Waterbeach, Cambridgeshire, are having an impact on 
the overall level of income for recycling materials. This along with the higher than usual 
levels of non-recyclable materials in customers’ blue bins means income is reduced 
compared with previous years.  
 

 
 
Recycling Champions Update 

 
 
Schools Recycling Competition 
More than 5,600 schoolchildren have been learning how to recycle as part of a 
district-wide initiative to reduce the amount of waste going to landfill and polluting our 
environment. 
 
The Environmental Project Officer and dedicated volunteers have been delivering 
educational recycling activities to pupils from schools across the district as part of the 
Council's Getting It Sorted campaign. 
 
Youngsters have been learning how to reduce, reuse and recycle as part of the 
initiative and taking part in a popular recycling story competition to win a year's free 
recycling service for their school. 
 
The overall competition winner was nine-year-old Justina Dambraskaite, of Orchards 
Church of England Primary School in Wisbech. She won a year's free recycling service 
for her school along with a range of fully-recycled prizes for herself. The overall runner-
up was 11-year-old Charley Gardner of Cromwell Community College in Chatteris. 
 

Page 34



19 

 

The under 9s winner was five-year-old Lewis Godbald from Orchards Primary and 
eight-year-old Cassey Marie Dolan, of the same school, was the under 9s runner-up 
prize winner. 
 
Ten-year-old Madeleine Pooley from Cavalry Primary School in March won the best 
independent recycling storyboard with runner-up Joshua Sustins, 10, also from Cavalry 
Primary School. 
 
The judges also awarded a dedicated recycler prize to a 14-year-old student from 
Meadowgate School in Wisbech for her outstanding recycling knowledge and 
competition entry. 
 
Over 200 children from 18 schools taking part in the competition received a Getting It 
Sorted certificate and recycling promotional materials to help them with their future 
recycling efforts.  
 
Hundreds of children showed a fantastic understanding of recycling within their 
competition entries, with some of their reasons for recycling and recycling messages 
including: 
•"Recycling is a good thing, it keeps our world clean" 
• "I recycle to help the sea and animals" 
•"I've started picking up the rubbish where I live" 
•To "help the environment and to make other useful things" 
•"Remember, recycle and don't be a Pollutron!" 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Environment 
 
Business Plan Priority: Deliver a high performing refuse, recycling and 

street cleansing service 
 
Business Plan Action:  Deliver an effective, self-funding garden waste 

collection service 
 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Peter Murphy 
 

 
Garden Waste Service Update 
 
 
Subscriptions 
The level of subscriptions at the beginning of August was 20,012.  
 
Collections 
Even with the extremes of weather so far this year, the garden waste service has 
collected 2,561 tonnes of garden waste from 80,453 collections from subscribing 
customers during April, May & June.  

Page 35



20 

 

 
Issues 
During April, May & June garden waste crews found 122 bins that contained materials 
not suitable for composting during the same period, 178 brown bins presented without 
subscription stickers. Additionally, the refuse crews rejected 238 green bins that 
contained garden waste.  
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Environment 
 
Business Plan Priority: Deliver a high performing refuse, recycling and 

street cleansing service 
 

Business Plan Action: Deliver clean streets and public spaces, as set out 
in the national code of practice 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Peter Murphy 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

Variance 

Performance Measure     
LPI CEL6 
Rapid or Village Response 
requests actioned same or next 
day 

90% 94% 96%  

 
Cleansing Rapid and Village Response July 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
During July the team attended to 94% of the reported incidents on the same or next 
day. 
 

Area Requests  Requests Met Performance 

Chatteris 2 2 100% 
March 15 15 100% 
Villages 22 20 91% 
Whittlesey 19 18 95% 
Wisbech 45 42 93% 
Totals 103 97 94% 

 
 
 
 

Page 36



21 

 

 
Description Target 18/19 Achieved  

July 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
Variance 

Performance Measure     
LPI CEL7 
% of inspected streets meeting 
our cleansing standards 
(including graffiti and flyposting) 

93% 99% 99%  

 
July Cleansing Inspections 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The regular inspection of the quality of cleansing in Fenland is performed by Street 
Scene officers on a routine basis using national scoring methodology which assesses 
litter, street sweeping and graffiti.   

 

Area Inspections 
carried out 

Standards 
met Performance 

Chatteris 30 30 100% 
March 30 30 100% 
Whittlesey 30 30 100% 
Wisbech 10 9 90% 
Totals 100 99 99% 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:   Environment 
 
Business Plan Priority: Work with partners and the community on projects 

to improve the environment and streetscene 
 
Business Plan Action:  Support improvements to Fenland’s streetscene and 

heritage 
 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr David Oliver 
 

 
Wisbech High Street Townscape Heritage Project  
 
 
An advertisement asking for Expressions of Interest for a contractor to work with us on 
24 High St (The Gap) was advertised on the government’s contracts finder website – 
at last count there were over 800 downloads of the information pack provided. We 
are also making local contractors aware of the opportunity via the project and FDC’ 
website and social media outlets. 
 
Cabinet will consider a report with recommendations for the future development of 

Page 37



22 

 

11-12 High Street at September’s meeting. 
 
The contract detailing the conditions of a grant for the conversion of a vacant first 
floor space into residential units as well as replacement and repair of shopfronts over 4 
units at 13-17 High Street is being finalised. As soon as contracts are agreed and 
exchanged work will begin. This is the first large scheme which will make a significant 
impact on the High Street. 
 
The activity plan continues to develop, with our first Conservation Workshop planned 
for 25th August and the final edits are now being made to the conservation booklet 
“Love it or Lose It” which will be an online resource available to download from the 
Councils Planning/advice page. It provides advice on maintenance and guidance 
on policy for owners of listed buildings. 
 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr David Mason 
 

 
Manage the operation and maintain FDC-owned public car parks 

 
 
During the month of July the following works were undertaken, or have been 
scheduled for FDC Car Parks and Industrial Estates 
 
Undertaken  
 

1. George Campbell leisure centre car park, March gully grate and frame 
replacement. 
 

Scheduled  
 

1. Chapel Road car park bollard replacement. 
 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Peter Murphy  
 

 
Manage and maintain highway related assets and infrastructure (street furniture, bus 
shelters, etc) 

 
 
During the month of June the following street furniture repair or replacement works 
were undertaken, or have been scheduled: 
 
Undertaken 
 

1. Nene Parade, Wisbech – Resetting of 7 tree grills and surrounding block work 

Page 38



23 

 

and paving caused by tree root damage 
 
Scheduled 
 

1. Replacement of March Market Place Market/Event access 
bollards/arrangements 

 
 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mrs Anne Hay  
 

 
Manage and maintain district, parish and Clarion HA street lighting 

 
 
26 street lighting faults were reported to the Assets and Projects Team and were 
attended to by FDC’s new street lighting contractor during the month of June.  
 
Cabinet considered on 19 July a Parish Council Service Level Agreement offer based 
on the new street lighting repairs and maintenance contract framework previously 
circulated to all FDC Parishes for consideration in May. The SLA set out a framework for 
recharging repairs and maintenance costs back to the Parish Councils.  
 
Cabinet endorsed the proposal with a set of revised recommendations for FDC 
support in funding of parish energy costs for the first 12 months. Delegated authority 
was also approved for the Portfolio Holder for Finance and the Corporate Director 
Growth and Infrastructure to update the Service Level Agreement and oversee 
transfer arrangements for those Parishes wishing to opt out. 
 
An amended Service Level Agreement will be prepared taking into account the 
above with effect from 1 August 2018. 
 
The deadline for Parish Councils to decide if they wish FDC to continue to manage 
their stock with associated costs being recharged has been extended.     
 
It is intended that those Parish Councils wishing to take back responsibility for their own 
street lighting repairs, maintenance and energy shall become financially liable with 
effect of 1st August. 
 

 
 

Street lighting improvements 
 
 
The defective street light replacement works contract is now predominantly complete 
with188 of the 190 scheduled replacements having been completed. 
 
There are two street lights awaiting UKPN connectivity for which works have been 

Page 39



24 

 

ordered and scheduled for completion at the end of August.  
 
The street light electrical and structural testing and asset data collection survey works 
for all FDC and Clarion Housing street lighting assets has been progressing with three 
quarters of the survey works now complete. Completion is anticipated early August 
2018 following which a period of data analysis will commence to inform future 
programmed replacement works. 
 
Rebranding works to all FDC and Clarion Housing Association street lights is being 
undertaken at the same time as the data collection exercise and is therefore 
scheduled for completion in August. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA: Environment 
 
Business Plan Priority: Work with partners and the community on projects to 

improve the environment and streetscene 
 
Business Plan Action: Use education, guidance and Council powers to fairly 

enforce environmental standards and tackle issues such 
as flytipping, dog fouling and littering  

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Peter Murphy 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

Variance 

Performance Measure     
MPI  
Streetscene Officer hours spent 
on active town patrol 

6,000 302 1,540  

 
During July both Street Scene and Kingdom Officers have had a visible presence 
within the community. Key areas such as our open spaces and town centres have 
been visited regularly. The aim of these patrols has been to respond to community 
issues such as litter and dog fouling. 
 
Broken down officers time across the district has been: 
March: 79hrs 
Wisbech: 88hrs 
Chatteris: 65hrs 
Whittlesey: 61hrs 
Rural: 9hrs 
 
Fixed penalty notices served in July for littering and parking offences: 
 
 
 

Page 40



25 

 

Location Fixed Penalty Notices served 
March 1 for littering 

4 for parking offences 
Wisbech 23 for littering 

3 spitting 
Whittlesey 1 for littering 
Total 32 

 
The table below shows progress with all cases so far since the Tidy Fenland 
enforcement pilot which has run from June 2017.  
 
The average payment rate achieved between June 2017 and April 2018 is 67%. As a 
result, the service is operating on a self-funding basis. 
 

Month  Fixed 
penalty 
Notices 
Served 

Referred for 
prosecution 

Withdrawn/  
cancelled and 
not referred for 
prosecution 

Paid  %age 
paid 

June 17 173 29 24 120 69% 
July 105 21 12 72 69% 
August 330 81 27 222 67% 
September 196 60 10 126 64% 
October 127 17 17 93 73% 
November 150 33 8 109 70% 
December 140 33 10 97 69% 
January 18 201 27 16 110 62% 
February 185 32 15 106 62% 
March 102 32 16 54   63% 
April 116 56 5 60 54% 
May  68 n/a 6 31 46% 
June 29 n/a 3 13 50% 
July 32 n/a 2 12 40% 
Total 
(to April 18) 

1709 374 144 1109 66% 

Total 
(to July 18) 

1922 306 152 1211 61% 

 
Prosecutions for littering offences – Tidy Fenland 
During July 9 people have been found guilty at Peterborough Magistrates Court for 
littering.  
 
Where the original FPN has not been paid the Council has taken legal action. They 
each received a fine of £220 plus additional £226.50 costs and associated charges.  
 
A further 1 individual paid the original fine plus costs (totalling £150) prior to their court 
date and the matter was withdrawn. 

Page 41



26 

 

 
Fly tipping investigations and enforcement 
During July there have been 83 instances of fly tipping. The most commonly tipped 
items were household waste. Broken down into locations: 
 
Chatteris 0 
March 6 
Whittlesey 11 
Wisbech 24 
Villages 41 
 
During July Street Scene Officers have attended 12 of the fly tipping sites and 
searched for evidence to try and find out who may be responsible. Any evidence 
found has been followed up.  
 
Tidy Fenland Dog Campaign 
This month we have seen a continued focus on prevention and enforcement work 
for dog offences. Work focused this month has included;  
 

• Patrols in key open spaces with Fenland. In the main Furrowfields Chatteris. 
West End and Nene Parade March. The Manor Field & Sycamore Road 
Whittlesey and Wisbech Park. 

• Colleagues in cleansing have been supporting the campaign by ensuring 
reported dog fouling is removed as soon as possible. 

 
Other Street Scene actions up to 20/7/18 

• 21 Reports of abandoned vehicles all were removed by persons unknown after 
receiving notices.  

• 11 nuisance vehicles were reported and actioned.  
• 27 matters relating to our open spaces, mainly regarding the grass. 
• Marked 11 graves. 
• 12 General street scene actions, including requests for service and general 

enquiries.  
• 24 dog fouling issues.  
• 19 matters relating to cleansing and refuse across the district. Including 

additional requests for service, domestic waste issues and customer queries. 
• 11 site visits for other service areas. 
• 6 trade waste matters resolved 
• 5 reports to Highways regarding issues on their land. 
• 1 Reports to Clarion Housing regarding issues on their land. 

 
 

Description Target 17/18 Achieved  
 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

Variance 

Performance Measure     
MPI 
Memorial inspections 

5,000 498 1,603  

Page 42



27 

 

completed 
 
Memorial Inspections took place this month in Mount Pleasant cemetery, Chatteris 
New Road and Wimblington. Of these, 70 were identified as being unsafe and service 
requests have been raised to our contractors for them to be rectified. 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA: Environment 
 
Business Plan Priority: Work with partners and the community on projects to 

improve the environment and street scene 
 
Business Plan Action: Ensure well maintained open spaces by working in 

partnership with ISS World and supporting community 
groups (such as Street Pride, In Bloom and ‘Friends Of’) 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Peter Murphy 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

Variance 

Performance Measure     
LPI CEL10 
Number of Street Pride and 
Friends Of community 
environmental events supported 

204 21 89  

 
21 events were held this month by community groups to improve the environment. 
 
Regular work parties were held as well as Doddington Street pride utilising marketing 
opportunity by having a promotional stand at the village’s carnival.  This was an 
excellent opportunity for the group to publicise themselves and promote the work of 
Street pride by engaging with many residents and members of the public.  
 

 
 
Progress against Street Pride plan: 
Priority 1: ‘helping groups work together / grant funding’ 
Priority 2: ‘Support for groups by varied Council services’ 
Priority 3: ‘ Increased partnership working’ 
Priority 4: ‘Opportunities to involve more young people’ 
Priority 5: ‘Increasing sustainability and resilience’ 
 
 
This month an activity was recognised under priority 5 – increasing sustainability and 
resilience. 
 
A new street pride group was formally constituted.  After about a year of trying to 
formally set a group up in Wimblington, on 21 July, another successful litter pick was 

Page 43



28 

 

held followed by an inaugural meeting whereby the group were officially constituted. 
 
Wimblington Street Pride group are the 16th group to joint this initiative.   
 

 
 
In Bloom Awards (July / August 2018) 
 
 
This year four groups entered the Anglia in Bloom competition.  Benwick were judged 
on 5th July, Chatteris and Waterlees on 6th and lastly Wisbech on 19th July. 
 
During the month all of the groups were busy finalising last minute touches and 
maintenance to existing projects.  The groups now eagerly await the results due in 
September. 
 

 
 
Grounds Maintenance Contract Update 
 
 
July has been a busy month for the Council’s contractor, Tivoli Group.  Whilst grass 
maintenance has been relatively simple, given the hot weather and reduced growth 
rates, the opposite is true of maintaining the summer bedding.  Unfortunately we had 
had several instances of missed watering and dead plants that have then required 
replacement. 
 
FDC’s contract monitoring team has been out and about ensuring that our contractor 
is working to the contract specification and highlighting issues or missed aspects of the 
work as they arise.  FDC continues to formal notices to Tivoli, should works not be 
completed to specification. 
 
Despite the challenging July weather, the open spaces team supported the Wisbech 
in Bloom group with an entry in the Britain in Bloom competition.  With a lot of hard 
work prior to judging, it is expected that Wisbech will do well in the competition. 
 
The In Bloom work of local community volunteers in Wisbech was filmed by the BBC for 
a programme regarding the competition earlier in July.  This programme will be aired 
in autumn and should highlight the community spirit and hard work that volunteers put 
into their local area every summer.  
 

 
 
Wisbech Skate Park in Bath Road 
 
 
Following a comprehensive community survey, a specification for the new skate park 

Page 44



29 

 

was drawn up and issued to skate park builders.  FDC received 2 bids and following 
the assessment and scoring of those bids, the contract has been awarded to Gravity 
Skate parks, an experienced firm who has submitted an excellent design. 
 
Work should commence in mid-September and will be marked with an earth breaking 
ceremony.  The build will take around 4 weeks, with an opening event currently 
expected to take place in late October. 
 
This project has proceeded to this point so quickly due to Clarion Futures supporting 
the project with a £30,000 contribution to match the £40,000 that Wisbech Town 
Council identified from Section 106 contributions. 
 
This is an exciting project for the local community, with the replacement park being a 
significant improvement on the previous park. The local community group that has 
supported the project has achieved significant fund raising through various events, 
including a parachute jump.  Funds raised will be used to support an ongoing 
programme of community events at the new skate park, as well as supporting the 
opening event in October. 
 

 
 
Whitemill Coldham / Glassmoor and Ransonmoor updates 

 
 
The Glassmoor local Environment Fund awarded funding this month to an exciting 
environmental project within the catchment of the turbines.  Whittlesey Emergency 
Food Aid were granted £949 for a food collection bin and blackout blinds to keep the 
food from perishing whilst in storage. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA: Environment 
 
Business Plan Priority: Work with partners and the community on projects to 

improve the environment and street scene 
 
Business Plan Action: Work with Town Councils and the community to provide 

local markets, market town events, and Four Seasons 
events 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Peter Murphy 
 

 
Four Seasons Events 

 
 
Whittlesey Festival is due to take place on Sunday 9 September.  The volunteer 

Page 45



30 

 

committee have for the first year promoted a sponsorship package to local businesses 
in order to offer more of the attractions free of charge to visitors.  The group have 
been very successful and have already raised £750 in addition to existing fundraising 
activities.  This is excellent news for the festival and means that the following 
attractions will now be free of charge: climbing wall, land train, water zorbs, 2 bouncy 
castles, soft play centre, tea cups and circus skills. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Environment 
 
Business Plan Priority: Work with partners to keep people safe in their 

neighbourhoods by reducing crime and anti-social 
behaviour and promoting social cohesion 

 
Business Plan Action: Work with partner organisations to reduce crime, 

hate crime and anti-social behaviour in Fenland 
through the Community Safety Partnership  

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr David Oliver 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
(July) 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

Variance 

Performance Measure     
MPI 
Number of incidents recorded 
by CCTV 

1,500 182 658  

 
During July 2018 the Council was able to respond and detect 182 incidents of crime 
and disorder, including anti-social behaviour, making use of the Council’s CCTV 
service across our four market towns in Fenland. This is a decrease as compared to 
July 2017 in which 227 incidents were reported.  
 
The increase in incidents is mainly connected to increases in street drinking activity 
with the current extended hot and dry weather. 
 
A breakdown of incidents by town for July: 
Chatteris   = 6 
March    = 11 
Whittlesey   = 1  
Wisbech   = 164 
 

 
Description Target 18/19 Achieved  

(July) 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
Variance 

Performance Measure     
MPI 
Number of CCTV incidents 

180 30 79  

Page 46



31 

 

resulting in positive action 
 
During July 2018 the Council was able to achieve 30 positive enforcement outcomes 
from incidents responded to or detected by the use of CCTV. This is a decrease as 
compared to July 2017 in which 39 positive outcomes were achieved. 
 
These included arrests for theft, shoplifting, criminal damage and alcohol related 
disorder.  
 
Positive outcomes achieved for July: 
Arrests (CCTV led)              = 9 
Assisted arrests              = 3 
Fixed Penalty Notices                 = 16 
Restorative Justice                      = 2 
  
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
(July) 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

Variance 

Performance Measure     
MPI 
Number of pro-active CCTV 
patrols  

3,000 372 1,534  

 
The CCTV team during July 2018 were able to provide 372 camera patrols covering 
the four market towns in Fenland. 
 
This approach allows for the CCTV team to identify, where possible, any community 
issues early to ensure adequate and prompt partnership response and to support the 
service level agreements that are in place for contributing partners and customers. 
 

 
Description Target 18/19 Achieved 

month  
(July) 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

Variance  

Performance Measure     
MPI 
Number of FDC ASB cases 
where positive action is taken 

90% 100% 
(19) 

100% 
(52) 

 

 
During July 2018, there were 19 new ASB cases submitted into the community safety 
team.  One of 19 was as High Risk case resolved in partnership with the local police 
team. New cases include reports of verbal abuse, threats, noise, youth related 
nuisance and substance abuse. 
 
The total ASB cases recorded for 2018 – 2019 is 52 with community safety having a 
positive impact on the 19 new cases this month, whilst providing on-going case 
management for existing complex cases.  

Page 47



32 

 

 
 
Community Safety Partnership Update 
 
 
The 3rd meeting of Fenland Community Safety Partnership for 2018 was held on 
Thursday 26th July. 
 
The partnership is a statutory body that are responsible for understanding and tackling 
crime & ASB within their area and reducing the fear of crime & ASB. Statutory members 
of the CSP include police, local authority, fire, probation, and clinical commissioning. 
Fenland also has non-statutory members which include Clarion Housing group and 
Inclusion.   
 
At this meeting the partnership were provided with a strategic assessment on 
offending and links to housing provision. Following discussion amongst the partnership 
members it was suggested and agreed to look closer at the ‘female offender’ cohort 
to understand why Fenland had a higher percentage of female offenders than the 
Cambridgeshire County average.  
 
The partnership also recognised there was significant work being completed at a 
County level, including across Fenland, to tackle the issue of accommodation for 
offenders and it was important any work commissioned by the CSP added value to 
current work streams. 

 
 
Street Drinking Update including Public Space Protection Orders 
 
 
The Wisbech Alcohol Partnership continues to meet monthly to review and check 
progress of the associated action plan and to review current profiles for local service 
support. 
 
The four active Public Spaces Protection Orders that cover the Wisbech town centre 
area continues to be actively supported by the Council and its supporting 
enforcement partners as well as weekly recovery walks provided by Inclusion outreach 
officers. 
 
The CCTV team responded to 75 reports of Street Drinking with 18 leading to positive 
action being taken by enforcement officers and others being provided with words of 
advice by Police. 
 
There have been 32 fixed penalty notices (FPN) issued during July 2018 for breach of 
PSPOs relating to alcohol restrictions. These have included 18 Fixed Penalty Notices 
within St Peter’s Gardens, 12 FPNs within Tillery Field and 2 in the Memorial Gardens, 

Page 48



33 

 

Wisbech.  
 
For more information on the PSPOs visit: www.fenland.gov.uk/pspo 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Environment 
 
Business Plan Priority: Work with partners to keep people safe in their 

neighbourhoods by reducing crime and anti-social 
behaviour and promoting social cohesion 

 
Business Plan Action: Support the Fenland Diverse Communities Forum to 

deliver the Fenland-wide Community Cohesion 
Action Plan and projects resourced by the 
Controlling Migration Fund 

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr Mike Cornwell 
 

 
Fenland Diverse Communities Forum 
 
 
Emergency Night Shelter - Controlling Migration Fund project 
The Ferry Project have successfully been awarded funding to increase the night shelter 
in Wisbech from 14 beds to 18.  The shelter provides a valuable lifeline for homeless 
people and prevents them from sleeping rough.  The project also provides support to 
enable individuals, often with complex needs to move on successfully.   
 
Demand has been high and in the first six months, 3338 nights of accommodation was 
provided with 42% of those using the night shelter being British.    
 

Page 49

http://www.fenland.gov.uk/pspo


34 

 

BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Economy  
 
Business Plan Priority: Attract new businesses, jobs and opportunities, 

whilst supporting our existing businesses in Fenland 
 
Business Plan Action: Working with our partners, local businesses, the 

Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and the 
Combined Authority, we will raise the business 
profile of Fenland to attract inward investment and 
establish new business opportunities 

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr David Mason 
 

 
Business Engagement & Inward Investment 

 
 
Fenland for Business website - www.fenlandforbusiness.co.uk 
 
Engagement volume has remained steady for July, 
although we are seeing property feature in the most 
viewed pages. We have seen activity focus more on 
business support this month rather than researching 
Fenland for Business. 
 
As normal, audience acquisition largely came from online searches (62%); the 
proportion of visitors coming directly to the website increased slightly meaning they 
know the website address (27%). Referral visits, so those who have clicked a link to the 
Fenland for Business website on another site made up 8% of visits and social media 
attracted 3% of visits, which is slightly lower than normal. 
 
The most popular pages were: 

• Home Page 
• News and Events 
• Invest in Fenland – the fenland economy 
• About Fenland 
• News Articles – Opportunities  

 
 July result June result May result 
Sessions 86 122 117 
Users 73 98 107 
Page views 179 202 291 
Pages/Session 2.08 1.66 2.11 
Average session 
duration 

00:01:58 00:01:13 00:01:25 

Bounce rate 73.26% 71.31% 59.42% 
New sessions 81.5% 86.2% 86.3% 
Returning visitor 18.5% 13.8% 13.7% 

Page 50

http://www.fenlandforbusiness.co.uk/
http://www.fenlandforbusiness.co.uk/�


35 

 

Further revisions and updates to the website content have been undertaken this 
month, including providing more relevant information and including a greater number 
of local events for businesses to attend. 
 

 
Description Target 18/19 

(annual) 
Achieved  

 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
Variance 
(profile) 

Performance Measure     
MPI BE5 
Number of inward investment 
enquiries handled 

8 2 6  

 
ED officers received two inward investment enquiries during July, both new small 
businesses looking to start up in Fenland. Support was provided on start-up 
information, grants available, and premises available. Follow up support continues to 
be provided. 
 

 
Description Target 18/19 

(annual) 
Achieved  

 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
Variance 
(profile) 

Performance Measure     
MPI BE6 
Number of social media 
followers 
(Fenland business engagement 
and profile enhancement) 

790 
 

Total 17/18 
726 

10 749  

 
• 118 profile visits – Visitors to the ‘@fenlandbusiness' page. 
• 13 tweets – Original content material published from the ‘@fenlandbusiness' 

account. 
• 3 mentions - when someone else uses '@fenlandbusiness' in their tweet, for 

example, to show that they've attended an event we've organised, to share the 
work of Fenland for Business, or even to make us aware of upcoming events or 
initiatives. This is a good indicator of engagement and awareness of the 
account by other organisations. As we had an event this month we had a 
particularly high number of mentions 

• 4,733 tweet impressions - this is the potential number of people that may have 
seen a ‘@fenlandbusiness’ tweet in their news feed. This is a mix of the people 
that follow Fenland for Business and the followers of any accounts that 
interacted with a tweet from Fenland for Business by retweeting, commenting 
on, or liking a tweet as this activity will be shared with them. 

• 10 new followers 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 51



36 

 

Description Target 18/19 
(annual) 

Achieved  
 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

Variance 
(profile) 

Performance Measure     
MPI BE7 
Number of delegates attending 
FDC’s business support events 

150 N/A N/A N/A 

 
Events 
No events were held in July. 
 
Officers are looking to collaborate with partners to develop a series of joint events and 
carry out joint marketing activities around these events. It is anticipated that by doing 
so it will lead to increased delegate attendance and wider exposure of relevant 
business support topics to more Fenland businesses. Officers and partners are in the 
process of developing 5 events for later in the year, looking at business growth, 
business start-up, book keeping and marketing. 
 

 
Description Target 18/19 

(annual) 
Achieved  

 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
Variance 
(profile) 

Performance Measure     
MPI BE8 
Number of businesses referred 
to Economic Development from 
Business Ambassadors network 

12 1 5  

 
The Business and Economy Team is working with Planning Officers to support a business 
looking to relocate and build new premises in Fenland. Work is ongoing. 
 
The Business and Economy team received a referral from FDC Street scene officers, a 
charity looking for premises in Wisbech, and grant support for this. Officers made 
contact with the company referring them to a series of grants available to them. 
Ongoing support is being provided where required. 
 

 
 
Market Town Masterplans Update (known as ‘Growing Fenland’) 

 
 
The Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority (CPCA) wants every one 
of its market towns (11 of them, 4 of which are in Fenland) to be a vibrant and thriving 
place in its own right, with its own distinct identity and set of ambitions for the future. 
 
To ensure that there is sufficient capacity and expertise to undertake the study, the 
CPCA have committed £150,000 (£50,000 per Market Town) to appoint experts to 
coordinate undertake research & analysis and develop a prospectus for each Town. 
 

Page 52



37 

 

In July the Growing Fenland Project Team published a consultant’s brief, seeking to 
appoint a suitably qualified company who will lead on the engagement, consultation 
and identification of opportunities. The evaluation and appointment process will be 
undertaken in mid-August, in preparation for formal project launch in September. 
 

 

Page 53



38 

 

BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Economy  
 
Business Plan Priority: Attract new businesses, jobs and opportunities, 

whilst supporting our existing businesses in Fenland 
 
Business Plan Action: Facilitate local business support to encourage 

business growth, improve job diversity and skills. 
Explore funding streams which support jobs and 
economic growth 

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr David Mason 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

Variance 

Performance Measure     
MPI BE9 
Number of successful grant 
applications introduced by FDC 

8 0 0  
 

 
FDC officers have referred 24 grants to outside organisations; these are being 
investigated by the individual business, and potentially being developed into suitable 
projects. 
 
Officers continue to work closely with businesses to provide high level support around 
access to, and applications for grants. 
 

 
 
Workforce Development, Employment, Skills and Apprenticeships 

 
 
We offer a range of NVQ apprenticeship qualifications out to our workforce already, 
and are currently developing a wider apprenticeship offer to enable a minimum of 9 
apprentice posts being offered by the Council. We already have an HR apprentice, 2 
Business Administration Apprentices in our Business Centres, and will be looking to 
commence a further 2 apprenticeships within the next month, and are seeing to 
establish new Apprentice posts. 
 
We also offer work experience and longer term work placements to enable young 
people to develop valuable work skills. 
 

 
 
Work Experience Placements &Work Opportunities Programme 
 
 
The Council has an established work experience programme working with local 

Page 54



39 

 

schools to provide a work experience placement programme across a range of 
Council teams. HR, Customer Services, Environmental Health, Planning and 
Conservation, ICT, with further offers currently being explored from our Housing teams. 
 
This is a rolling annual programme, and usually takes place in July each year.   
  
We have also provided longer-term placements, working with Job Centre Plus and 
other agencies. 
 

 
 
Work with partners to deliver a programme of supported skills development across the 
district 
 
 
We have been working with the Skills Service and local education providers to help 
provide opportunities for young people and to help build their ‘fit for work skills, such 
as interview skills workshops, careers presentations and employability skills. 
 

 
 
Explore and expand opportunities for the Council to work in partnership with local 
education providers to promote employment opportunities for the local community, 
and raise the aspirations for people to improve their employment / life prospects 
 
 
We are currently developing a wider apprenticeship offer to enable a minimum of 9 
apprentice posts being offered by the Council, and have approached local 
businesses to offer support where possible. 
 
We have recently undertaken a tender exercise and have selected a local preferred 
apprenticeship provider to deliver a framework of new apprenticeships available to 
all. 
  

 

Page 55



40 

 

BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Economy 
 
Business Plan Priority: Attract new businesses, jobs and opportunities 

whilst supporting our existing businesses in Fenland  
 
Business Plan Action: Promote and develop our business premises at 

South Fens, The Boathouse and our light industrial 
estates to encourage investment, job creation and 
skills diversification 

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr David Mason 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

Variance 

Performance Measure     
LPI BE1 
% occupancy of the business 
premises estate 

90% 92.7% N/A  

 
Boathouse Business Centre: 
All vacant offices remain under offer, with Heads of Terms being issued to prospective 
tenants.  
 
Notice has been served by a tenant to vacate an office suite on 30 September. 
Negotiations are already underway with a prospective new business to occupy this 
vacant office which is great news. 
 
South Fens Business Centre: 
Two viewings have been conducted this month, following leads generated by adverts 
paced on Rightmove Commercial. Feedback confirms that the location is not suitable 
for one of the enquiries; however the other is considering their options over summer. 
 
Notice has been received from a tenant, who will vacate at the end of August, the 
business is currently in the process of reorganising its business model and no longer 
requires a base in Chatteris however they will continue to use the centre for meetings 
with clients. 
 
South Fens Enterprise Park: 
Following the unfortunate liquidation proceedings against one of our occupiers, the 
unit was relinquished on 16 July and was subsequently re-let to a new tenant on 25 
July, which is great news as the unit was vacant for just nine days. Whilst it is always 
unfortunate to lose a business through closure or liquidation the combined hard work 
and efforts of officers has resulted in a relatively minor impact to FDC through the loss 
of this business. 
 
Light Industrial units 
The current position for the estates is: 

Page 56



41 

 

 
Prospect Way, Chatteris    - Fully let 

Longhill Road, March         - Fully let 

New Drove, Wisbech          - Fully Let 

Venture Court Wisbech      - Fully Let 

Boleness Road, Wisbech    - Fully Let but also note: 
o A double unit will be becoming available when tenant reinstatement 

works are complete. These works have been delayed but the unit is likely 
to become available in the next 4 to 6 weeks and is being marketed in 
the meantime.  

o Accommodation moves at Fenland Hall are likely to free up a unit 
currently used by FDC so that this can also be let. 

 
Marketing & Promotion: 
The Business Premises Team continue to review marketing options for the entire letting 
estate, including South Fens, to ensure that we maximise opportunities to increase 
occupancy. 
 
Whilst particular focus is on increasing the levels of occupancy at South Fens Business 
Centre, these activities will extend to include the Boathouse Business Centre and South 
Fens Enterprise Park, if and when appropriate. 
 
The occupancy at South Fens Business Centre is creeping up and this is in no small part 
due to the continued work of Officers to ‘sell’ the space and the advantages of 
serviced office accommodation in the South of the District.  
 
Summary 
Current floor space occupied 8020m2 out of a total available 8,654 m2. 
 
South Fens Business Centre       64% 
South Fens Enterprise Park         97% 
Boathouse Business Centre       90% 
Light Industrial Units     100% 
 
Overall Business Premises Estate occupancy is currently over target at 92.7% 
 

 

Page 57



42 

 

BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Economy  
 
Business Plan Priority: Attract new businesses and jobs and support 

existing businesses in Fenland 
 
Business Plan Action: Deliver a proactive and effective Marine Service to 

meet our statutory obligations and promote 
business opportunities for the River Nene 
environment 

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr David Mason 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

Variance 

Performance Measure     
LPI MS1 
Number of berth holders / 
occupancy of berths at 
Wisbech Yacht Harbour 

90% 
(of 86 

berths) 

86 100%  

 
10 visiting boats called at Wisbech in July including 3 vessels from Peterborough yacht 
club and a vising vessel from Belgium, Full time berth numbers remained on target with 
2 vessels leaving and 1 new full time berth holders joining the Yacht Harbour. 
 
Wisbech Yacht Harbour occupancy achieved year to date. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Description Target 18/19 Achieved  

 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
Variance 

Performance Measure     
LPI MS2 
Number of boat lift operations 
at Wisbech Port 

353 56 177  

 
The boatyard continued to be very busy throughout July for boatlifts with 5 leisure 
vessels; 4 of the ports craft were lifted out for routine maintenance. And there was 2 

Page 58



43 

 

Fishing vessels lifted from Wells and Kings Lynn to use the yard. Eastern inshore fisheries 
also used the facility eight times throughout the month. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Description Target 18/19 Achieved  

 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
Variance 

Performance Measure     
Gross Tonnage to Ports  
 

423,000 39,544GT 155,295 GT 
against a 

projection of 
135,672GT 

114% 
 

 

 
Port Sutton Bridge 
Imports to Sutton bridge were down on target for the monthly forecast with a total of 
23,126 GT of cargo (90% from target); this consisted of Steel, Salt, Maize, Oil Seed 
Rape, Beans. The total number of vessels to call at Sutton Bridge was 12.  
 
Port of Wisbech 
Imports to Port of Wisbech were above on the monthly forecast target with imports at 
16,418 GT of cargo (202% from target) handled by the port that consisted of in Timber, 
Bricks. The total number of vessels to call at Wisbech was 10. July was the fourth month 
to remain above target for cargo import; it also broke a record for the amount of 
cargo handled by the port in a single month ever. 
 

Page 59



44 

 

 
 
Yacht Harbour Marketing Plan Update 

 
 
A wider marketing plan for The Wash area leisure ports is being developed in 
conjunction with Lincs CC and Kings Lynn BC. This work includes the recent submission 
of a bid to the Government’s Coastal and Communities Fund for additional 
infrastructure and revenue operational costs. A decision is currently awaited from 
Government. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Economy 
 
Business Plan Priority: Promote and enable housing growth, economic 

growth and regeneration across Fenland 
 
Business Plan Action: Enable appropriate growth, development and 

infrastructure through the delivery of a proactive 
and effective Planning Service and Local Plan 

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr Mrs Dee Laws 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

Variance 

Performance Measure     
LPI EC2 
% of major planning 
applications determined in 13 
weeks (or within extension of 
time) 

75% 100% 100%  

 
4 major applications were decided in the month and all were within the target 
timescale. 
 

 
Description Target 18/19 Achieved  

 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
Variance 

Performance Measure     
LPI EC3 
% of minor planning 
applications determined in 8 
weeks or within extension of 
time) 

80% 90% 93%  

 
28 out of 31 decisions made in the month were within target. The applications 
determined out of target were the subject of refusals and so the applicant was not 

Page 60



45 

 

inclined to enter into an extension of time agreement. 
 

 
Description Target 18/19 Achieved  

 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
Variance 

Performance Measure     
LPI EC4 
% of other planning applications 
determined in 8 weeks or within 
extension of time) 

90% 100% 100%  

 
All 30 applications decided in the month were done so within target timescales. 
 

 
 
Review of Statement of Community Involvement 
 
 
A review of the document (which sets out how we will engage with the community on 
planning matters) is due to be completed by September 2018. The draft document 
was presented to Planning Committee in June and Cabinet in July and having been 
approved will shortly be published. 
 

 
 
Peer Review of Planning Service 
 
 
The visit took place in the first week in August and the final report will be shared with 
members and an all member seminar is to take place. 
 

 
 
Planning Committee Training 
 
 
No event took place in July with training on Planning Enforcement due to take place in 
August subject to volume of business at the committee meeting. Training to the two 
new planning committee members will take place before they play an active role on 
the committee. 
 
A programme of training for all councillors as well as Town and Parish Council’s is being 
drawn up.  
 

 
 
 

Page 61



46 

 

 
Broad Concept Plans Update 

 
 
The Section 106 for the London Road, Chatteris  development for c1000 homes is due 
to be signed in August allowing the planning permission to be issued. The site is being 
soft marketed by the owner prior to full marketing on grant of outline planning 
permission. 
 
Wenny Road Chatteris – application being prepared for submission in the Autumn.  
 
East March – The potential developer of the site has advised that a number of 
landowners have pulled out and so the developer is unable/ unwilling to complete 
their site investigation / feasibility work. 
 
South West March – Larkfleet continues to consider the feasibility of bringing the site 
forward. 
 
West March – Key landowner in discussions with the County Council regarding 
education provision. 
 
East Wisbech – Landowner preparing an outline planning application 
 
West Wisbech – Liaison meeting with a key landowner due to take place in the light of 
the County Council decision regarding secondary school provision to the west of 
Wisbech.  
 

 

Page 62



47 

 

BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Economy  
 
Business Plan Priority: Promote and enable housing growth, economic 

growth and regeneration across Fenland 
 
Business Plan Action: Work with partners to further develop and help 

deliver a viable holistic regeneration and growth 
proposition of Wisbech Garden Town  

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr Chris Seaton 
 

 
Wisbech Garden Town Update 

 
 
The Garden Town feasibility work continues focusing on the 2 potential show stoppers 
of flood protection and highway connectivity.  Royal Haskoning of Peterborough is 
carrying out detailed flood modelling (based on successful Dutch projects) work to 
help find a solution that is acceptable to the EA and Government.  CCC are 
progressing the connectivity work to help assess the A47 capacity.  Outcomes from 
these studies are expected in August/September 2018. 
  
Discussions have been held with the Combined Authority (CPCA) to consider 
resources to take forward the project management role funded from the previously 
agreed CPCA Garden Town project budget. 
  
In addition the CPCA and FDC are considering project governance and 
management arrangements for post August. 
 

 

Page 63



48 

 

BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Economy  
 
Business Plan Priority: Promote and enable housing growth, economic 

growth and regeneration across Fenland 
 
Business Plan Action: Use the Council’s assets to support and deliver 

sustainable economic and residential growth 
across the district, including the delivery of mixed 
use development at the Nene Waterfront 

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr David Mason 
 

 
Surplus Asset Disposal Programme  
 
 
The remaining site which has Cabinet approval for sale has legal title issues that need 
to be resolved before it can go to auction. Legal team now have paperwork ready to 
submit to Land Registry. 
 
Cabinet on 14th June approved a revised disposal programme to support the Property 
Investment & Development Strategy (PIDS).  For those sites to be sold via auction an 
auction house will be appointed following an invitation to tender for work.  Sales of 
other sites will be managed in-house over the course of the programme. 
 
The disposal of larger key/strategic sites will provide a significant contribution towards 
providing sites for residential or commercial/industrial development across the District.  
 
It is hoped that the disposal of the lower value sites will reduce the incidences of anti-
social behaviour and in turn, reduce the cost and burden to the public purse, whilst 
also creating a capital receipt for the Council. 
 

 
 
Nene Waterfront Development 

 
 
All the houses on the Lot 3 site have now been certified as being ‘wind and 
watertight’. It is anticipated that the final freehold transfer will take place in August 
marking the closure of a 3 year development scheme. 
 
Sales of the completed units have kept pace with completion, creating a steady 
supply of new, good quality homes for first time buyers and those already on the 
housing ladder. 
 
Attention will now turn to marketing the remaining sites at the Nene Waterfront. 
 

Page 64



49 

 

 
 
Sutton Bridge Marina 
 
 
The marina at Sutton Bridge, known as Cross Keys Marina is now almost fully occupied. 
FDC Officers are currently in the process of agreeing the terms of the Operating 
Agreement and Lease but still await revised drafts from Lincolnshire County Council.  
 
It is anticipated that the agreement will be signed later than planned but should be 
completed by Autumn 2018. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Economy 
 
Business Plan Priority: Promote and lobby for infrastructure improvements 

across Fenland 
 
Business Plan Action: Promote sustainable transport (infrastructure and 

community) initiatives within Fenland, including rail, 
road and community transport, to improve links to 
employment 

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr David Oliver 
 

 
Rail Development Strategy 

 
 
Manea & Whittlesea Station Enhancements 
The Rail Development Strategy includes substantial plans to upgrade our local railway 
stations.  Some latest plans detailing proposals developed by Network Rail have 
recently been made available for public and stakeholder comments. The public 
consultation for the Manea platform lengthening options and for Whittlesea Station 
platform lengthening and bridge options concluded on 30 May 2018.  97 people 
responded to the public consultation. Analysis of the results and feedback showed 
that the preferred option for Manea and for Whittlesea Stations is option 1.  Option 1 
for both stations was also the preferred technical option and the preferred option by 
FDC/Hereward CRP.  
 
The website link below contains the consultation materials.  
http://www.fenland.gov.uk/article/13310/Manea-and-Whittlesea-Railway-Station-
Enhancements---Platform-Lengthening-Public-Consultation 
 
Cross Country Railway Franchise Competition 
FDC is working in partnership with Cambridgeshire County Council and the Hereward 
Community Rail Partnership in preparation for the Department for Transport long term 

Page 65

http://www.fenland.gov.uk/article/13310/Manea-and-Whittlesea-Railway-Station-Enhancements---Platform-Lengthening-Public-Consultation
http://www.fenland.gov.uk/article/13310/Manea-and-Whittlesea-Railway-Station-Enhancements---Platform-Lengthening-Public-Consultation


50 

 

Cross Country Franchise Competition. The competition was launched in June 2018 
and is an important opportunity for us to try and secure earlier and later railway 
services from our local stations to Peterborough, Cambridge and Stansted Airport.  The 
consultation closes on 30th August 2018. The consultation document can be accessed 
from the following Department for Transport website page: 
 
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/cross-country-rail-franchise 
 
The FDC/Hereward CRP consultation response was submitted at the end of July 2018. 
The main elements of the response, in line with comments from the public are as 
follows: 
• Earlier and later trains from the Fenland Stations to Peterborough, Cambridge and 

Stansted Airport 
• Cross Country services stopping at Cambridge North Station in the future 
• To continue the excellent partnership working that we have experienced with 

colleagues from CrossCountry during the life of the current short term franchise 
• Ongoing support including funding for the Hereward Community Rail Partnership 

including more flexibility to appoint project officers to deliver additional railway 
work. 

 
East Midlands Railway Franchise Competition 
In June 2018 the Government published the stakeholder public consultation response 
and the invitation to tender (ITT) for the East Midlands Franchise.  Please see the 
website links below for the full documents. 
 
Colleagues from the Hereward CRP and FDC have now met with representatives from 
the 3 organisations that are the short listed bidders.  These meetings were to reinforce 
our local requirements for the new franchise and to discuss how we can work more 
closely with whoever is successful at wining the new franchise.   The bidders have to 
submit their tenders in early September 2018 and the DfT will announce the winning 
bidder in Spring 2019.  The new franchise commences in August 2019. 
 
Stakeholder briefing Document and Public Consultation Response 
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/future-of-east-midlands-rail-franchise 
 
Invitation to Tender 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/east-midlands-franchise-2018-invitation-
to-tender 
 

 
Description Target 18/19 Achieved  

 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
Variance 

Performance Measure     
Number of journeys made by  
dial a ride services 
 
(please note that figures for railway 
and car scheme use are reported 

Maintain 
14/15 level 

(14,308 
journeys) 

1,611 6,584  

Page 66

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/cross-country-rail-franchise
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/future-of-east-midlands-rail-franchise
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/east-midlands-franchise-2018-invitation-to-tender
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/east-midlands-franchise-2018-invitation-to-tender


51 

 

annually) 
 
Since April 2008, FDC has provided a Concessionary Fares scheme for community 
transport services.  This means that any Fenland resident who has a Cambridgeshire 
bus pass and is a member of the local Community Transport organisation, can travel 
free of charge on the Dial a Ride Service.   
 

• What is Dial a Ride? 
 Dial-a-Ride (DAR) services provide door to door transport for those people who 
do not have access to a car, where there is no public transport, or where they cannot 
access public transport. These services in Fenland are operated by Fenland 
Association for Community Transport (FACT).  To use these services customers must be 
members of FACT. Membership is subject to meeting the eligibility criteria for Dial a 
Ride services.   
 

• FACT Membership 
 To use FACT services you have to be a member. DAR is not available to the 
general public. To become a FACT member you pay a 12 month subscription fee of 
£10 and you must meet one or more of the following criteria: 
o have no access to your own car during the day 
o There is no public transport available 
o Public transport is limited and does meet your needs, e.g. a hospital 
appointment 
o You have difficulty using public transport due to disability or frailty 

 
FACT currently has around 1,431 members in Fenland District (31 December 2017). 
 

 
 
Local Sustainable Transport Fund (LSTF)  

- Increase the number of people walking, cycling and using public transport 
 

 
Combined Authority - Strategic Bus Review 
In November 2017 the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority 
agreed to commission a Strategic Bus Review. Such a review has important 
significance for Fenland given the loss of bus services in recent years and high levels of 
complaints from local people about the lack of bus services. 
 
A copy of the paper discussed at the CA board can be found from the following link 
on pages 26 – 39: 
http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/assets/Combined-Authority/Agenda-
29th-November-2017.pdf 
 
This paper proposes that a strategic study is undertaken and will include the following:  

• Review the existing network and service – including its strengths and 
weaknesses;  

Page 67

http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/assets/Combined-Authority/Agenda-29th-November-2017.pdf
http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/assets/Combined-Authority/Agenda-29th-November-2017.pdf


52 

 

• Develop strategic options for bus services of the future – taking account of other 
strategic transport initiatives, so that any proposals can be seen as part of a 
whole transport solution. New technology and innovative solutions from across 
the UK and the world will also be considered;  

• Assess franchising and other operational models – and their relevance and 
value to this area;  

• Consider transition arrangements for new, future operational models  
• An important feature of the review will be engagement with all stakeholder 

groups across the area including bus providers and Local Authorities. 
On behalf of the Combined Authority, Cambridgeshire County Council has 
commissioned Systra to lead the review. Systra are a transport planning consultancy 
based in the UK and Ireland.   
 
An initial officer led workshop was held in July 2018 to start the review.  Further 
meetings and workshops will be held to allow other local authorities and key 
stakeholders to input in to the review in the coming months. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Economy 
 
Business Plan Priority: Promote and lobby for infrastructure improvements 

across Fenland 
 
Business Plan Action: Engage with partners on the feasibility and delivery 

of major infrastructure projects across Fenland, 
including road (Wisbech and March Access 
Studies, A47 and King’s Dyke improvements) and 
rail (Rail Strategy, improvements to railway stations 
and the March to Wisbech rail link) 

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr David Oliver 
 

 
Support strategic transportation objectives 

 
 
A47 
Further discussions between CPCA and Government are being held to promote the 
upgrade of the A47 between Peterborough and Walpole Highway. 
 
Wisbech Access Strategy 
During May 2018 FDC Cabinet, Wisbech Town Council and the Cambridgeshire 
County Council Economy and Environment Committee recommended that the short 
term package for the Wisbech Access Strategy goes forward to the Business 
Board/Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority for full approval and to 
release the funding for the schemes.   This package is expected to be discussed at the 
Combined Authority Board meeting in September 2018. 

Page 68



53 

 

 
The recommended short term measures are an amended package of proposals, 
following the public consultation on the Wisbech Access Strategy which concluded in 
late 2017. Further details can be found below from the website links below. 
 
Wisbech Access Strategy Press Release 
http://www.fenland.gov.uk/article/13373/Public-consultation-helps-shape-Wisbech-
transport-schemes 
 
Wisbech Access Strategy – FDC Cabinet Paper  
http://www.fenland.gov.uk/aksfenland/images/att7045.pdf 
 
March to Wisbech Railway Line 
Tenders for the next stage of the feasibility work have been prepared by the CPCA. 
 
A605 Kings Dyke Crossing 
There is no specific update on this item this month. 
 
March Area Transport Study 
The Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority (CA) presented a paper 
at its board meeting on 28th March 2018 set out spending on transport during the 
period 2018-20. The paper recommended that the CA Board agree the pipeline of 
projects set out in the multi-year transport programme. Please see the website link 
below. 
 
Combined Authority Board Meeting March 2018 - Transport Delivery 2018/19 
http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/combined-authority-board-
28-march-2018/?date=2018-03-28 
 
The March Junctions Improvement Package is one of the transport schemes identified 
in the pipeline of schemes and was allocated £100k in October 2017 and a further 
£1m in March 2018 for a feasibility study with responsibility for leading and delivering 
the study delegated to Cambridgeshire County Council. This feasibility study is now 
known as the March Area Transport Study. The initial study work is expected to take at 
least 18 months and will lead to the delivery of a range of transport schemes for March 
that will help to support the Fenland Local Plan. 
 
In July 2018 the County Council Economy and Environment Committee agreed the 
establishment of a Member Steering Group (MSG) to support this study work.  Two 
representatives from FDC are to be appointed to the MSG that is expected to 
commence in early Autumn 2018. 
 
Cambs CC Economy & Environment Committee July 2018 - Agenda Item 9 
https://cmis.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/ccc_live/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPubli
c/mid/397/Meeting/864/Committee/5/Default.aspx 
 

 

Page 69

http://www.fenland.gov.uk/article/13373/Public-consultation-helps-shape-Wisbech-transport-schemes
http://www.fenland.gov.uk/article/13373/Public-consultation-helps-shape-Wisbech-transport-schemes
http://www.fenland.gov.uk/aksfenland/images/att7045.pdf
http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/combined-authority-board-28-march-2018/?date=2018-03-28
http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/combined-authority-board-28-march-2018/?date=2018-03-28
https://cmis.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/ccc_live/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/864/Committee/5/Default.aspx
https://cmis.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/ccc_live/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/864/Committee/5/Default.aspx


54 

 

BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Economy 
 
Business Plan Priority: Promote and lobby for infrastructure improvements 

across Fenland 
 
Business Plan Action: Promote and Influence how housing and 

infrastructure funding is used to stimulate housing 
development and economic growth in Fenland 
through working with the Combined Authority 

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr David Mason 
 

 
Housing & Infrastructure Funding from the Combined Authority 

 
 
Key infrastructure feasibility studies are being produced by the CPCA that could 
impact on Fenland. These include the A47 study along with a M11/A47 link. In addition 
proposals are being progressed to improve Fenlands railway stations to enable more 
frequent and longer trains. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA: Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority: Transformation & Efficiency 
 
Business Plan Action: Engage with the Combined Authority’s Public Service 

Reform agenda 
 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Chris Seaton 
 

 
Combined Authority Update 
 
 
‘Growing Fenland’ – Market Town Masterplan Update 
Following the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority (CPCA) 
announcement to allocate £50k to three of our market towns (March, Chatteris and 
Whittlesey), bids have now been received from potential consultants to deliver 
engagement with stakeholders and the local community. 
 
The successful bidder who will deliver this ‘Growing Fenland’ will be announced late 
August. 
 
The consultant’s first meetings with Stakeholder Groups will be carried out during 
September/October where those involved will collectively start to map out how and 

Page 70



55 

 

when public and stakeholder engagement will take place.  
 
The members of the Stakeholder Groups in each town will be kept fully up-to-date with 
any developments, and the public will be updated with regular press releases and 
social media posts.   
 
Cllr David Mason, Portfolio Holder for Growth, is the lead for this project and is also a 
member of the Whittlesey Stakeholder Group.         
 
Meeting Agendas and Reports 
Please click on the links below to access the meeting papers for the following CPCA 
Committees: 
 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority Meeting – 27 June 2018 
 
Employment Sub Committee – 29 June 2018 
 
Audit & Governance Committee – 20 July 2018 
 
Overview & Scrutiny Meeting – 23 July 2018 
 
Business Board Meeting – 23 July 2018 
 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority Board Meeting – 25 July 2018 
 
Employment Sub Committee – 26 July 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA: Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority: Transformation & Efficiency 
 
Business Plan Action: Deliver required savings (as outlined in our CLG Efficiency 

Plan and Comprehensive Spending Review) whilst 
remaining a stable and sustainable organisation 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mrs Anne Hay 
 

 
Savings & CSR Projects Update 
 
 
Transfer of cleaning function to private sector provider:  
The contracted service has been tendered and awarded as part of a package with 
Cambridgeshire County Council (CCC), which included all of their public buildings 
and represented the advantage of economy of scale. Discussions were held with 
CCC to explore the potential opportunities for inclusion in the new tender and FDC 

Page 71

http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/show/2018-06-27
http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/show/2018-06-29
http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/show/2018-07-20
http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/overview-and-scrutiny-committee-2/?date=2018-07-23
http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/business-board-meeting-23rd-july-2018/?date=2018-07-23
http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/show/2018-07-25
http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/employment-sub-committee-2/?date=2018-07-26


56 

 

requested that all buildings be included. 
 
The new contract duration is proposed to be for 3 years with an option for an 
extension of a further one year period. The advantages of this new contract include; 
 - maximising economies of scale and potential savings; 
 - a common approach across all FDC sites; 
 - a specialist contractor with associated management and supervision; 
 - greater resilience to cover for sickness, leave, and vacancies; 
           - reduced management time, released for other essential property activities; 
 
The tendered rates for the Fenland facilities will result in an ongoing annual saving to 
FDC of approximately £30,000. 
 
Review and restructure of PFC service are to respond to proposed outsourcing of 
Leisure service: 
 
Following the Council's Comprehensive Savings Review (CSR), the Council is proposing 
to outsource the Leisure Service. This outsourcing will require the transfer of all staff 
(under the TUPE Regulations) wholly assigned to the leisure service.  The PFC service 
has made further efficiency savings to account for this forthcoming outsourcing and 
has therefore reviewed the existing PFC staffing structure. This restructure was 
approved by the Staff Committee earlier this years and has generated a further 
annual saving of £119,918. 
 
Leisure 
As previously highlighted in this report, FDC has awarded a contract to Freedom 
Leisure for the operation and management of our leisure centres.  This contract will 
bring annual savings of £351,000 p.a. to the Council, exceeding the CSR target for the 
project of £303,000. 
 
A period of mobilisation will commence shortly, with the handover to Freedom 
expected to take place during December 2018, and savings commencing from that 
date. 
 

 
 
ICT Strategy Update 
 
 
The replacement elections management system has been successfully installed, 
configured, tested and all of the data has been migrated. This system is now live and 
being used for the annual canvass. 
 
A new committee management system has also been rolled out and is live on our 
internet pages. The app will now be configured and rolled-out with training the all 
members. 
 

Page 72



57 

 

The roll-out of Windows 10 operating system to all desktop PCs and laptops is 
continuing as expected. 
 
We will now begin to look at areas of best practice and innovation to feed into our ICT 
transformation plan. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA: Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority: Excellent Customer Service 
 
Business Plan Action: Provide good service at our Fenland @ your service shops 

and Community Hubs, in line with Customer Service 
Excellence standards 

 
Portfolio Holder:  Cllr Mrs Anne Hay 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

Variance 

Performance Measure     
Fenland target ARP3 
% Council Tax collected 
 

97.3%  38.69% -0.15% 

Fenland target ARP5 
Net Council Tax Receipts 
payable to the Collection 
Fund 

£52,879,158  £20,461,810.58 £379,193.50 

 
COUNCIL TAX 
In year collection is almost back on target 
Collection fund remains significantly above target, and the collection of arrears is going 
well. There is not the same appeal process on Council Tax so there is generally nothing 
that can have such a big detrimental impact on the arrears collection as is possible on 
the NNDR 
 
During July 2018 the following recovery documents have been issued 
Reminders  1225 with a value of £146,039.40 
Final Notices 821 with a value of £193,822.85 
Summonses 101 with a value of £67,135.98 
 
Currently there are 1631 (last month 1855) processes outstanding for Fenland this is a 
reduction of 224 since last month. It is usual to start to see a reduction in processes 
outstanding from this point in the year.  This has been aided by the race days held to 
target work.  (Total for ARP  11106  a reduction of 1170 since last month) 
 

 
 

Page 73



58 

 

 
 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

Variance 

Performance Measure     
Fenland target ARP4 
% NNDR collected 
 

98.3%  38.95% 1.33% 

Fenland target ARP6 
Net NNDR Receipts 
payable to the Collection 
Fund 

£25,604,958  £9,407,287 -£212,608* 

 
BUSINESS RATES 
In year collection continues to run significantly above target. 
The collection fund target is below expected, this is as a result of £512K backdated 
refunds in July; collection is affected by the backdated refunds which continue to 
impact on the collection of arrears; this is generally due to appeals that the Valuations 
Office have now settled and affecting the Rateable Value on the property so reducing 
the charge.   
 
During July the following recovery documents have been issued 
Reminder notices - 86 with a value of £125,320.87 
Final notices - 39 with a value of £179,610.58 
Summonses  - 14 with a value of £182,065.50 
 
There are currently 83 (88 last month) processes outstanding currently which is another 
reduction on the previous month’s total. (835 ARP total prev 972). 
   
There are only 28 processes over 6 weeks old including pending items and new 
properties where we are awaiting information from other sources. 
 
* This figure is the difference between what we were targeted to collect at this point in 
the year and what we have actually collected at this point (so for NNDR we are 
£212,608 below target, caused by the backdated refunds.   
 

 
Description Target 18/19 Achieved  

 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
Variance 

Performance Measure     
Target CS1 
% of contact centre calls answered 
within 20 seconds 

27.5% 
Year to 

date target 

35% 29% +1.5% 

Target CS2 
% of contact centre calls handled 

57.5% 
Year to 

date Target 

70% 70.1% +12.6% 

Page 74



59 

 

 
The Customer Services Team continues to focus on performance to ensure we are able 
to answer customer contacts in a timely professional and knowledgeable manner. The 
new Customer Services Manager and Customer Supervisor posts recently implemented 
following the restructure are successfully supporting a performance culture within the 
service. 
 

 
Description Target 18/19 Achieved  

 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
Variance 

Performance Measure     
Target CS3 
% customer queries resolved at first 
point of contact 

85% 93.9% 93.8% +8.8% 

 
The Customer Services Team continues to excel at resolving the customers query at the 
initial point of contact where ever possible. The team works collaboratively with services 
across the Council and our partners to ensure the information we hold in relation to all 
services is comprehensive and we are able to action requests for services accordingly. 
 

 
 
Achieve CSE re-accreditation for the whole Council  
 
 
Following our re-assessment Customer Service Excellence (CSE) at the end of May this 
year we have again maintained our CSE accreditation and with an even stronger 
“pass” than last year in respect of “Compliance Plus” scores. 
 
The Council has again showed excellence with a recommendation of another 
"compliance plus" for delivering service across a number of channels, and we will look 
for opportunities to further improve next year.  
 
The assessor was so impressed by our work with partner organisations as well as a passion 
for joint working and community initiatives, and he was especially impressed by our 
culture and passion for delivering excellent customer service. 
 
A full report has just been released and we are working of areas for further improvement 
from this. 
 
The following is an excerpt for the report: 
 
“Summary of Strengths 
The numerous initiatives that Fenland continue to be involved with reach out to many 
hard-to-reach groups, particularly in the deprived area of Wisbech. Initiatives are added 
to as a new group or challenge emerges and this is typified with a new initiative to 
improved life for private rental tenants. 

Page 75



60 

 

Consultation and engagement remain particular strong with all the initiatives above 
resulting from engagement with the targeted groups.  
 
In addition Corporate consultation on the Council's Plans remains extensive and 
Fenland do not go live with their Service Plans until this is completed. 
 
Integral to the ethos is the empowerment of staff. As cut-backs continue the need for 
more autonomy increases and over the last year there has been a focus on making sure 
people have the skills to enable empowerment. 
 
In parallel to the above the use of staff insight in making improvements remains integral 
to the Council's need to 'work smarter not harder' and staff continue to make many 
suggestions to ongoing service improvements 
 
Partnership arrangements continued to be extended which results in new initiatives 
regularly coming on board such as litter picking and Community Risk Management 
amongst several new initiatives over the last 12 months.  
 
The attitude is very much 'identify a need and meet it' through a comprehensive 
network of willing partners. There are numerous benefits to the wider communities that 
Fenland serve. 
 
Fenland are to be commended for keeping their Hubs open in the main Fenland towns. 
This provides a variety of access channels for residents to access services as well as 
having a positive social impact on the High Streets. This also provides further 
endorsement to the benefit to wider communities.” 
 

 

Page 76



61 

 

BUSINESS PLAN AREA: Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority: Excellent Customer Service 
 
Business Plan Action: Help residents become digitally enabled and able to self-

serve opportunities (as outlined in our Channel Shift 
Strategy) to allow us to provide more support for 
vulnerable customers and complex queries 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr David Oliver & Cllr Mrs Anne Hay 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

Variance 

Performance Measure     
LPI PC1 
Number of visits to the FDC 
website 

611,000 47,916 202,218  

 
 
News Survey 
 
 
The number of news stories added to the FDC website and distributed as press releases 
to local media in July = 10 
 
Main articles included; 
 

• Veterans honoured at moving Armed Forces Day service 
• Living work of art’ begins year-long tour 
• Season of free bandstand concerts get underway 
• Don’t lose your voice – look out for canvass form in the post and register to vote 
• Eco-champs spread the recycling message through school competition 
• German twinning visit is ‘sehr gut’! 
• Council adopts new enforcement policy to tackle rogue landlords 
• Council maintains “excellent” service standards 
• Green Flag honour for Wisbech gardens 
• Learn how to look after old buildings at free conservation workshop 

 
 

 
Social Media Update 
 
 
Monthly update on FDC social media sites; 
The number of social media updates added to the FDC Facebook and twitter 
accounts in July; 
 

Page 77



62 

 

Facebook = 83 
Twitter = 115 
 
We currently have 1,849 likes on Facebook and 8,008 followers on twitter.  
 

FDC 
Twitter 

Tweets Tweet 
Impressions 

Profile 
visits 

Mentions New 
followers 

Total no of 
Followers 

 
115 

 

 
86.5K 

 
1,675 

 
165 

 
-148* 

 
8,008 

*National Twitter audit - The new measures mean that any user whose account is locked for unusual 
activity - such as being blocked or sending unusual volumes of Tweets - and who did not respond to 
a prompt to verify their identity would be excluded from Twitter follower counts. 
 

FDC 
Facebook 

Posts Reach Post 
Engagem

ents 

Page Likes Total Page 
Likes 

 
83 

 

 
17,049 

 
4,594 

 
17 

 
1,849 

 
We continue to post ‘snippets’ of information about council services, performance and 
‘did you know’ facts on our social media sites.  
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority: Equalities 
 
Business Plan Action: Meet our Public Sector Equality duty by delivering 

the requirements of the 2010 Equality Act and 1998 
Human Rights Act through our core service delivery. 
Publish an Annual Equality Report to demonstrate 
how we do this 

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr Mike Cornwell 
 

 
Meet Equality Act Requirements 
 
 
One Voice 4 Travellers 
One Voice4 Travellers are a key partner when working with the Gypsy Roma Traveller 
community.  The group is community based and founded by a group of Gypsy, 
Traveller and Romany (GTR) women wanting to achieve positive engagement with 
other communities, whilst developing knowledge and ability within the GTR 
community itself. 
 

Page 78



63 

 

The council has supported this group by conducting a skills evaluation, training was 
provided to ensure that all of the volunteers had the skills to offer support roles within 
the community. 
 
The group has progressed and now has charity status and have been working on a 
number of projects including women and girls issues around domestic violence and 
abuse including where to get help.  
 
 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority:  Asset Management and Commercialisation 
 
Business Plan Action: Ensure our asset base is suitable, sustainable and 

maximises service and income benefits 
 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr David Mason 
 

 
Corporate Asset Management Plan Update 
 
 
The Asset Management Plan 2017-20 sets out the 9 Strategic Asset Management 
Priorities of the Council and the accompanying Action Plan creates a framework for 
Officers to manage, allocate resources and monitor timescales to ensure timely 
delivery of the Actions and improve the Council’s asset management approach. 
 
Due to the size and nature of the work linked to the Asset Management Plan there will 
be periodic updates on specific projects from the action plan. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority:  Asset Management and Commercialisation 
 
Business Plan Action: Work jointly with public, private and third sector 

partners to maximise value 
 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr David Mason 
 

 
Corporate Accommodation Review 
 
 
The Accommodation Review has progressed to the stage of office relocations which 
began at the end of May and will continue until the beginning of August. 

Page 79



64 

 

 
During July the final physical moves of Teams and Officers has been completed. The 
final stage of the move process will focus on fitting out suitable space for the Election 
Team storage. 
 
The net result of the moves will enable a much better utilisation of space and create a 
wholly independent series of offices on the ground floor, known as the ‘west wing’ 
which can be let to the public or private sector on an entirely self-contained basis. 
Work is being undertaken to look at any potential refurbishment works required to the 
west wing and seeking to find a potential suitable occupier for the vacated space. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority:  Asset Management and Commercialisation  
 
Business Plan Action: Develop and deliver a commercial investment 

strategy 
 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr David Mason 
 

 
Property Investment & Development Strategy (PIDS) 
 
 
The Property Investment & Development Strategy (PIDS) is aimed at seeking greater 
returns from the different use of existing FDC property assets. This could include seeking 
to dispose of surplus assets to reinvest the capital receipts into investment 
opportunities, or like the Accommodation Review, ensuring better utilisation of assets 
to create capacity to generate additional revenue streams. 
 
As projects are identified and develop they will be reported upon here. 
 
There are no updates in July. 
 

 

Page 80



65 

 

BUSINESS PLAN AREA: Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority: Workforce Development 
 
Business Plan Action: Maintain an effective workforce with the right skills to 

deliver the Council priorities 
 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mrs Anne Hay 
 

 
Learning & Development 
 
 
The Council remains committed to the learning and development of its workforce, 
and has a very robust and responsive learning and development framework in place 
to ensure that staff’s learning needs are met. 
 
The IIP Assessor recognised this in our most recent IIP reassessment process: 
 
“Learning and development activities are ongoing and there is still a learning culture 
despite the reduced training budget. People are being more creative in terms of 
finding cost-effective methods which meet their development needs. The organisation 
is to be congratulated that this continues to be a strength.”  
 
We have provided a wide range of learning and development interventions for our 
workforce over the past year, such as Managing Conflict Training, Mental Health 
Awareness and Mental First Aid Training, PACE training, Mediation training, Pre-
retirement training, Prevent Training, Coaching skills, Licensing, Leadership and 
Safeguarding Children, 121 coaching, management development, , investigation 
skills, health and safety, managing sickness, apprenticeships, funded training, 
resilience training and so on.  
 
In addition to this we have provided a buoyant e-learning programme and 121 
coaching. 
 
We are currently collating organisational learning needs for delivery this financial year, 
and, in September, will be rolling out a Corporate Programme of Positive Mindset and 
Service training for the while organisation 
 

 

Page 81



66 

 

BUSINESS PLAN AREA: Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority: Workforce Development 
 
Business Plan Action: Support and empower staff to make effective decisions 

within a pleasant working environment 
 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mrs Anne Hay 
 

 
Health Champion Programme 
 
 
The Council has a team of qualified health champions in place, and we are part of a 
Work Healthy Cambridgeshire. This is a Health Improvement Programme run by 
Cambridgeshire County Council specifically for Cambridgeshire businesses and/or 
organisations.  
 
The programme aims to support employers across the county to improve the health 
and wellbeing of their employees, increase productivity and reduce sickness 
absence.  
 
Our Health Champions have developed a programme to promote health and well-
being of employees inside and outside the workplace. 
 

 
 
Mental Health Training 
 
 
We now have an in-house Mental Health First Aid Instructor who is currently rolling out 
Mental Health First Aid Training across the Council.  We are currently exploring further 
opportunities for income generation with partners to deliver this training. 
 
We also have a comprehensive suite of training to support this area, such as Personal 
Resilience and Mental Health Awareness. In addition to this we provide 121 coaching 
a support to employees where required.  
 

 
 
People Management Strategy Review Update 
 
 
The Council’s People and Development Strategy is aligned to the Council’s Business 
Plan and focus on outputs for 2017 - 2020. It has been developed in recognition of the 
need for our people to continue to work effectively with a range of stakeholders and 

Page 82



67 

 

partners. It continues to be reviewed and improved on an annual basis. It is a live 
document that will be refreshed and updated as the Council evolves and faces new 
and emerging challenges.  
 
This strategy informs and responds to the Workforce Development Plans (WfDP) 
created by our Service Managers as part of the Service Planning process to support 
the delivery of the Council’s Business Plan.  We review our WfDPs each year as part of 
the annual service planning cycle to take account of the changing needs of the 
organisation and the community it serves. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA: Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority: Enforcement 
 
Business Plan Action: Use a fair and proportionate approach to improve living, 

working and environmental standards  
 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mrs Dee Laws  
 

 
Planning Enforcement Update 
 
 
In the month of July we received 36 service requests which represents nearly half of 
the requests we’ve had since the beginning of April (85). In July 11 cases were closed 
(72 cases in the year to date). With regard to the cases closed: 
 

• 8 cases were resolved through the grant of retrospective planning permission 
• In 2 cases there was no breach of planning control found 
• In one case the breach was resolved voluntarily by the occupier / owner 

 
76% of cases where no breach of planning control is found were closed within 8 weeks 
of receipt. 
 

 

Page 83



68 

 

BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority:  Health & Safety 
 
Business Plan Action: Maintain effective Health & Safety policies and 

systems to comply with relevant legislation and 
local requirements 

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr Mrs Anne Hay 
 

 
Health & Safety Update 
 
 
The Annual Health and Safety Report has now been finalised, and will be presented to 
the Staff Committee in September.  This document reports on the Council’s 
performance during the past year; it covers accident statistics, benchmarking, 
training, corporate actions implemented etc. The report will be presented to 
CMT/Staff Committee and the Council’s Health and Safety Panel for their information. 
 
We are currently reviewing health and safety risk assessments within teams across the 
Council and working on the production of training materials for the Cleansing Team 
within the Waste Services. 
 

 
 
Emergency Planning Update 
 
 
Ongoing joint working with the Local Resilience Partners (Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough) on multi-agency planning requirements. Areas of current work include 
reviewing emergency plans, reviewing risk assessments and warning informing. 
  
Nine members of staff (from CMT/Management Team) attended Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Local Resilience Forum (CPLRF) Recovery Training. This was a one day 
course targeted at local authorities along with the emergency services within 
Cambridgeshire/Peterborough on the aspects of recovery from a major incident 
occurring within the area. Areas covered included the humanitarian assistance, 
economic, environmental and infrastructure. 
 

 

Page 84



69 

 

BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority:  Health & Safety 
 
Business Plan Action: Ensure the safety and wellbeing of the Council’s 

workforce, partners and wider community 
 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr Mrs Anne Hay 
 

 
Workforce Wellbeing Strategy & Health Surveillance Programme Update 
 
 
We offer a wide range of support to our employees to help promote and encourage 
their good health and wellbeing, such as: 
 

• A dedicated Occupational Health Advice and guidance support service 
available for all colleagues; 

• A comprehensive programme of health surveillance for groups of employees 
who work in certain service areas (e.g. refuse drivers, leisure centre staff, port 
staff, CCTV staff etc.) 

• We provide a health care plan for all employees (at nil cost to the Council) to 
enable financial support to access to access a wide range of health care 
specialists and interventions (e.g. chiropractic services, dental treatment, 
acupuncture, reflexology, chiropody etc.)  

• A range of Family Friendly People Policies 
• We also have a team of qualified Health Champions drawn from across the 

Council who are promoting quarterly health promotion events. 
 
The current Workplace Wellbeing Strategy is being reviewed and updated to ensure 
that it provides the most appropriate support for the organisation and our workforce. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Quality Organisation 
 
General:  
 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr Mike Cornwell 
 

 
Twinning Visit from Nettetal, Germany 
5th – 9th July 2018 
 
 
The Council has been twinned with Nettetal in Germany since May 1989.  There 
have been regular biennial exchanges between Fenland and Nettetal.  The Fenland 

Page 85



70 

 

Twinning Association is strongly supported by the Chairman of Fenland District 
Council and the Chairman of the Fenland Twinning Association and events take 
place to promote Twinning in Fenland eg the Twinning Tea Party. 
 
The Twinning exchange events most recently have been: 
 

• 2005 -  Fenland Visit to Nettetal – from 8-12 September 
• 2007 –  Nettetal Visit to Fenland  - from 5-9 July  – 42 German Visitors 

travelled to Fenland 
• 2009 –  Fenland Visit to Nettetal – from 27-31 August, Twenty Year 

Anniversary 
• 2011 –  Nettetal Visit to Fenland – from 14-18 July – 43 German Visitors 

travelled to Fenland 
• 2012 - Fenland Visit to Nettetal – from 30 August-3 September – special visit to 

the Floriade, an  extraordinary Flower Festival in Venlo 
• 2014 Nettetal Visit to Fenland – from 19-23 June – 30 German Visitors travelled 

to Fenland 
• 2016 Fenland Visit to Nettetal – September 2016 

 
The exchange visits between Fenland and Nettetal have been well received and 
supported by the Members of the Twinning Association and Hosts by both parties 
which ensures the Council continues its support of the Twinning Association, to 
continue longstanding friendships, some of which go back to the beginning in 1989. 
 
The Council welcomed visitors from Nettetal in Germany to Fenland from 05 – 09 
July.  Hosts were arranged for the visitors and a programme of events, culminating 
with a Dinner Dance on the Saturday evening of their visit. 
 
The feedback and success of previous events ensures that the Council is able to 

continue its support of  
Fenland’s Twinning with Nettetal and the next visit is planned for Fenland to visit 
Nettetal in 2020. 
 
The work of the Council and the Fenland Twinning Association ensures existing 
friendships continue and with much publicity new members are encouraged and 
become involved in future events, thus ensuring the success and support for the 
Fenland Twinning Association in the future. 
 
 

Page 86



 

Agenda Item No: 8  

Committee: COUNCIL 

Date:  13 SEPTEMBER 2018 

Report Title: PETITION - CLINICAL WASTE COLLECTION CHARGES 

1 Purpose / Summary 
For Council to consider a petition regarding the implementation of charges for Clinical 
Waste collections 

2 Key issues 
• The Council has received a petition objecting to the implementation of charges for 

clinical waste collections following the decision by the NHS to withdraw the collection 
service. 

• In summary the petition states "We, the residents of Fenland, do not support the 
proposal of charging us £8 for each collection of clinical waste and sharps boxes. 
There has been no consultation with residents whatsoever. Despite the decision by 
the NHS, there is no other Council in Cambridgeshire that we could find that is now 
charging for this service. We therefore urge Fenland District Council to reconsider 
this decision to charge private households for the collection of hygiene and clinical 
waste.  

• At the time of writing the petition had received 706 electronic signatures, therefore 
exceeding the minimum 500 signatures required to facilitate a debate at full Council 

• When considering a petition, the Council has several options on how to respond to 
the petition including; 

o Taking the action requested in the petition 
o Considering the petition at a council meeting 
o Referring the petition for consideration by the Council's Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee 

3 Recommendations 
• For Council to consider the petition. 

 
 

Wards Affected All  

Forward Plan Reference  

Portfolio Holder(s) Councillor Peter Murphy 

Report Originator(s) Anna Goodall Head of Governance and Legal Services 
agoodall@fenland.gov.uk 
01354 622357 

Page 87

Agenda Item 8

mailto:agoodall@fenland.gov.uk


Contact Officer(s) Paul Medd Chief Executive 
Richard Cassidy Corporate Director 
Amy Brown Monitoring Officer 
Anna Goodall Head of Governance and Legal Services 
Mark Matthews Head of Environmental Services  

Background Paper(s) Overview and Scrutiny Fees and Charges Report 15 January 2018 
Cabinet Fees and Charges Report 18 January 2018. 

 
 

Page 88



 

Agenda Item No: 10  

Committee: COUNCIL 

Date:  13 September 2018 

Report Title: Property Acquisition and Regeneration, Wisbech 

 

Cover sheet: 

1. Purpose / Summary 
• The attached Cabinet report outlines options for Members’ consideration related to an 

important derelict town centre site of 11/12 High Street Wisbech, which forms part of 
the Wisbech High Street Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) project. 

• Significant grant aid is available from HLF which is time limited and may be in 
jeopardy if the required major refurbishment cannot be taken forward within the 
requisite timeframe. 

• The report explains the regeneration benefits aligned to the related delivery and 
financial risks and requests Members to decide whether the Council wish to consider 
acquiring the site and to determine the most appropriate way forward. 

2. Key Issues 
• The Council’s Business Plan and its ‘Economic’ priority is committed to regeneration 

across the District and has supported the High Street HLF project to deliver an 
improved streetscape and associated activities related to the project. 

• No 11/12 is located at the heart of the scheme and is identified as a ‘high priority’ site 
in the HLF programme with a significant grant allocation. 

• The grant is time limited with the requirement for the property to be completed and 
funding drawn down by January 2021, although HLF has indicated a degree of 
flexibility should the works on site be near completion at that time. 

• The site is completely dilapidated, and has been since the early 2000’s, so the HLF 
grant is a ‘once in a lifetime’ opportunity to address the ongoing issues associated 
with the building. 

• The current owner is unable to take forward the development and consequently, in 
order to meet the deadline for HLF funding, it will be necessary for the site to be 
acquired from them and an in principle agreement has been reached to that effect.   

• Officers have procured draft designs, estimated development costs, valuation and 
viability assessments which are included in the attached confidential appendices and 
this information has been utilised to develop four possible options for Members to 
consider in their decision making.   

• Additionally, Cabinet Members will consider a separate Cabinet report (attached for 
information purposes) following this meeting recommending that they approve a 
‘minded to grant’ Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) in order to aid the acquisition if 
required. Legally it is required that this is a Cabinet decision, which will follow this 
meeting if required.   

Page 89

Agenda Item 10



• Whilst there are significant benefits and opportunities to be gained from this 
regeneration project it is complex and not without risks. In order to assist Members 
with their decision making, a detailed Risk Matrix has been included in the confidential 
Appendix B together with the financial implications of each option identified.   

• In view of the urgency and importance of the decision to be taken, it is important that 
Members read and fully understand the risk and financial implications so that an 
informed and balanced decision can be taken. 

3. Recommendations 
• Council is hereby requested to note and endorse the Cabinet recommendations being 

made regarding the following decisions in relation to the potential redevelopment of 
no. 11/12 High Street, Wisbech: 

o Having regard to the particular risks and financial implications highlighted, to 
identify and approve, the preferred method of delivery from options 1,2,3 or 4  

o Subject to the above, where option 1, 2 or 3 is approved, that: 
 a decision is taken as to the timing of the acquisition and in particular 

either: 

• as soon as practicable; or 

• following a delay of 12 months (or less if possible) to enable the 
completion of design and costing works along with Planning and 
Conservation approval as appropriate. 

 If it is necessary, Council is requested to note the need for Cabinet to 
approve, in principle, to make a Compulsory Purchase Order under 
Section 226(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) 

 To delegate to the Chief Executive, Corporate Director (Growth & 
Infrastructure) and Corporate Director (Finance) in conjunction with the 
Leader, Finance Portfolio Holder and Growth, Heritage & Community 
Safety Portfolio Holder to implement the preferred option and in 
particular: 

● to enter into an agreement to purchase and subsequently acquire 
the site on the terms outlined in the report; and 

• to take all action necessary to enable the drawdown of the 
relevant HLF grant. 

 

Wards Affected Medworth Ward, Wisbech 

Forward Plan Reference  

Portfolio Holder(s) Cllr Chris Seaton – Leader 
Cllr David Oliver – Portfolio Holder for Growth, Heritage and 
Community Safety 
Cllr Anne Hay – Finance Portfolio Holder 

Page 90



Report Originator(s) Gary Garford – Corporate Director (Growth & Infrastructure) 
Taleyna Fletcher – Townscape Heritage Officer, Wisbech High St 
Project  
Justin Wingfield – Head of Business & Economy 
Kamal Mehta – Corporate Director (Finance) 
Amy Brown – Acting Corporate Director and Monitoring Officer 

Contact Officer(s) Paul Medd – Chief Executive 
Gary Garford – Corporate Director (Growth & Infrastructure) 
Kamal Mehta – Corporate Director (Finance) 
Justin Wingfield – Head of Business & Economy 
Amy Brown – Acting Corporate Director and Monitoring Officer 

Background Paper(s) Cabinet Report – Property Acquisition & Regeneration, Wisbech - 
13 September 2018 

 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Agenda Item No: 10 
 

Committee: CABINET 

Date:  13 September 2018 

Report Title: Property Acquisition and Regeneration, Wisbech 

 

Cover sheet: 

1. Purpose / Summary 
• This report outlines options for Members’ consideration related to an important 

derelict town centre site of 11/12 High Street Wisbech, which forms part of the 
Wisbech High Street Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) project. 

• Significant grant aid is available from HLF which is time limited and may be in 
jeopardy if the required major refurbishment cannot be taken forward within the 
requisite timeframe. 

• The report explains the regeneration benefits aligned to the related delivery and 
financial risks and requests Members to decide whether the Council wish to 
consider acquiring the site and to determine the most appropriate way forward. 

2. Key Issues 
• The Council’s Business Plan and its ‘Economic’ priority is committed to regeneration 

across the District and has supported the High Street HLF project to deliver an 
improved streetscape and associated activities related to the project. 

• No 11/12 is located at the heart of the scheme and is identified as a ‘high priority’ 
site in the HLF programme with a significant grant allocation. 

• The grant is time limited with the requirement for the property to be completed and 
funding drawn down by January 2021, although HLF has indicated a degree of 
flexibility should the works on site be near completion at that time. 

• The site is completely dilapidated, and has been since the early 2000’s, so the HLF 
grant is a ‘once in a lifetime’ opportunity to address the ongoing issues associated 
with the building. 

• The current owner is unable to take forward the development and consequently, in 
order to meet the deadline for HLF funding, it will be necessary for the site to be 
acquired from them and an in principle agreement has been reached to that effect.   

• Officers have procured draft designs, estimated development costs, valuation and 
viability assessments which are included in the attached confidential appendices and 
this information has been utilised to develop four possible options for Members to 
consider in their decision making.   

• Additionally, Cabinet Members will consider a separate Cabinet report should 
Council approve options 1, 2 or 3 recommending that they approve a ‘minded to 
grant’ Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) in order to aid the acquisition if required. 
Legally it is required that this is a Cabinet decision.   

Page 93



• Whilst there are significant benefits and opportunities to be gained from this 
regeneration project it is complex and not without risks. In order to assist Members 
with their decision making, a detailed Risk Matrix has been included in the 
confidential Appendix B together with the financial implications of each option 
identified.   

• In view of the urgency and importance of the decision to be taken, it is important that 
Members read and fully understand the risk and financial implications so that an 
informed and balanced decision can be taken. 

3. Recommendations 
• Cabinet is hereby requested to recommend to Council the following decisions in 

relation to the potential redevelopment of no. 11/12 High Street, Wisbech: 
o Having regard to the particular risks and financial implications highlighted, to 

identify and approve, the preferred method of delivery from options 1,2,3 or 4  
o Subject to the above, where option 1, 2 or 3 is approved, that: 

 A decision is taken as to the timing of the acquisition and in particular 
either: 

• as soon as practicable; or 

• following a delay of 12 months (or less if possible) to enable the 
completion of design and costing works along with Planning and 
Conservation approval as appropriate. 

 To delegate to the Chief Executive, Corporate Director (Growth & 
Infrastructure) and Corporate Director (Finance) in conjunction with the 
Leader, Finance Portfolio Holder and Growth, Heritage & Community 
Safety Portfolio Holder to implement the preferred option and in 
particular: 

● to enter into an agreement to purchase and subsequently 
acquire the site on the terms outlined in the report; and 

• to take all action necessary to enable the drawdown of the 
relevant HLF grant. 

 

Wards Affected Medworth Ward, Wisbech 

Forward Plan Reference  

Portfolio Holder(s) Cllr Chris Seaton – Leader 
Cllr David Oliver – Portfolio Holder for Growth, Heritage and 
Community Safety 
Cllr Anne Hay – Finance Portfolio Holder 

Report Originator(s) Gary Garford – Corporate Director (Growth & Infrastructure) 
Taleyna Fletcher – Townscape Heritage Officer, Wisbech High St 
Project  
Justin Wingfield – Head of Business & Economy 
Kamal Mehta – Corporate Director (Finance) 
Amy Brown – Acting Corporate Director and Monitoring Officer 

Page 94



Contact Officer(s) Paul Medd – Chief Executive 
Gary Garford – Corporate Director (Growth & Infrastructure) 
Kamal Mehta – Corporate Director (Finance) 
Justin Wingfield – Head of Business & Economy 
Amy Brown – Acting Corporate Director and Monitoring Officer 

Background Paper(s)  
 
 
 

Page 95



 

 

Report:  
CONFIDENTIAL – The attached lettered Appendices to this report comprise EXEMPT 
INFORMATION which is not for publication by virtue of Paragraphs 2 and 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) 
1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 Members will be aware of the Council’s long-standing objectives to promote 
regeneration across the District and is a key ‘Economic’ priority contained within the 
Council’s Business Plan. Recent developments concerning a significant scheme within 
the regeneration programme dictates that Members are now required to consider a key 
strategic decision in respect of the property known as 11-12 High Street. This report has 
been prepared to explain how a time-limited; ‘once in a generation’ opportunity has 
presented itself to take forward the redevelopment and put back into use, the derelict 
property known as 11-12 High Street, Wisbech. 

1.2 The solution to this problem is offered with a narrow window of opportunity and is only 
possible thanks to the funding secured from the Heritage Lottery Fund. The report 
explains the circumstances surrounding the current status of the site, the safety 
measures already taken by the Council and the options available to enable the building 
to be brought back into active use. 

1.3 The redevelopment and reuse of the property, which has stood in a derelict state since 
early 2000’s, has been a long standing ambition of this Council and the wider 
community. 11-12 High Street forms the centrepiece of the Heritage Lottery-funded 
Wisbech High Street Project and it is therefore critical that the funding is secured if it is 
determined that the premises should be brought back into use. The site is currently 
privately owned and redevelopment can only proceed if the Council or a third party 
secures its acquisition. The information contained in this report sets out the potential 
options for taking this forward together with risks and financial implications associated 
with this approach. 

1.4 As is required by law, a separate report tabled to Cabinet after the Council meeting 
today, will seek in principle approval from Cabinet for a resolution to grant a Compulsory 
Purchase Order (CPO) should this become necessary in the course of pursuing the 
options identified. 

2. Public Interest 
2.1 Before deciding whether to deal with the lettered appendices to this report as an exempt 

item and to exclude the press and public the Council must first decide whether the 
appendices contain exempt information and secondly whether the public interest should 
override the application of that exemption.  

2.2 The lettered appendices to this report contains details of a potential commercial land 
transaction including details of third party Landowner and potential commercial 
contracts with a Developer, together with associated financial matters that could 
prejudice the future acquisition, development and/or disposal of a property asset. The 
information falls within Paragraphs 2 and 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A namely 
“Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual” and "Information 
relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the 
authority holding that information)." Members will need to decide whether the sensitivity 
of this information relating to this proposal is so great that the public interest in 
transparent and accountable decision making is outweighed at this time.  Members 
could decide that disclosing detailed information into the public domain at this stage will 
be detrimental to the Council and prejudicial to the Landowner and Developer who could 
become parties to the same contractual relationship. 

Page 96



 

 

3. The Property 
3.1 The property known as 11-12 High Street, Wisbech comprises two separate derelict 

former shop premises which formerly provided three additional storeys of storage and 
living accommodation above. These buildings are believed to date to the early C18th, 
constructed from reddened local brown brick, originally they both comprised four storeys 
with decorative brick bands between floors. The premises were originally occupied as 
two separate properties, but for the purpose of this report are dealt with as a single 
property. The property is shown as edged red on the attached plan (at Appendix 1) and 
photographs of the property are attached (at Appendix 2).  

3.2 Both premises are separately ‘Grade II’ listed and are situated within a highly prominent 
town centre location and within the Wisbech Conservation Area. A report prepared by 
Historic England (English Heritage at that time) in 2006 and commissioned by FDC 
described the buildings as “four storeys high with a basement. They both have shops on 
the ground floor which have been extended at the rear to cover virtually the whole of the 
available sites. Both floor facades have been replaced with C20th shopfronts and the 
interiors have been completely opened up and all the fitting and decoration stripped 
out.” 

3.3 At present all that remains is a brick façade supported by internal party & curtain walls 
along with temporary strutting although the upper storey of each façade has been partly 
dismantled and all internal floors have been removed for safety reasons. Whilst there 
are some structural remains in the footprint of the former buildings behind, it is widely 
assumed that this is not salvageable and that any new redevelopment scheme would 
not be required to retain the original layout (subject to planning consent). Access is 
currently not possible due to the conditions of the site and therefore remote surveys 
have been undertaken using a drone and elevated platform. 

3.4 There will be a requirement to reinstate the front façade like-for-like in any approved 
development. 

3.5 Despite their current appearance, these two properties remain Grade II listed (HE List 
Entry Numbers: 1331613 and 1279361) and are subject to the same listed building 
conditions as any other listed property. 

4. Heritage Lottery Fund Grant 
4.1 In September 2016 the Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) awarded Fenland District Council 

with a grant of £1.9m from its Townscape Heritage scheme. This became known as the 
‘Wisbech High Street Project’. The properties situated on Wisbech High Street were 
assessed and given a priority rating in advance of the application for funding to the HLF, 
with 11-12 High Street receiving a “HIGH” priority rating. 

4.2 It is widely acknowledged by the HLF and by the High Street Project partner 
organisations (Wisbech Town Council, Wisbech Society and Cambridgeshire County 
Council) that the redevelopment of 11-12 High Street is crucial to the success of the 
project. It would be fair to say that failure to address these properties would be seen to 
result in the overall failure of the project to achieve its objectives. 

4.3 The principles of the Wisbech High Street project are that the owner develops an 
approved scheme of refurbishment and a grant is awarded to the owner of the site. The 
funding is awarded towards the repair/refurbishment or in the case of 11/12 to be used 
to plug the gap between the increase in the value of the site and cost of redevelopment 
– this is known as the “conservation deficit”. The amount available for 11-12 High Street 
has been capped at a figure contained in the confidential Appendix A – section 2. 

4.4 Funding awarded to owners is available on the basis of staged claims, submitted in 
arrears i.e. after that agreed stage of work has been completed and signed off. The 
funding is structured in this way to ensure that projects are taken through to completion, 
but does result in the developer/owner having to ‘front fund’ the entire scheme, before Page 97



 

 

being able to claim back that expenditure. The Wisbech High Street project has a four 
year life span and as such all works require completion and funding claims need to be 
submitted and drawn down before the deadline of January 2021. 

4.5 The HLF grant has ‘claw-back’ provisions on a sliding scale over 10 years if the property 
is sold by the owner. 

5. The Opportunities - Development options, finance and risk 
5.1      Given the complex and sensitive nature of this matter and the significant external 

factors which influence future options, a comprehensive and confidential Appendix A 
has been written which explains in much greater detail the recent history of the property; 
how it fell into disrepair; the owners intentions and the work undertaken to reach this 
point which is explained in Appendix A - section 3. 

5.2 The ‘prize’ from this project is to see this derelict property brought back into use through 
the award of the grant funding offered by the Wisbech High Street HLF scheme. A draft 
redevelopment scheme was prepared on behalf of FDC by Haverstock LLP for the 
original Heritage Lottery Fund submission and a copy of the indicative plans can be 
found at Appendix 3. Full details of the estimated development costs, valuation and 
viability issues are discussed in depth in Appendix A – section 4. 

5.3 The key aspect to this report is the Options being presented to Members and the 
associated timing implications to ensure that the HLF grant funding is not lost. Members 
are encouraged to read Appendix A – section 5, and to consider the 4 options on offer 
and the implications for taking action at the earliest opportunity. 

5.4 As with every project or opportunity there are risks in opting to either take action, or do 
nothing. Officers have developed a Risk Matrix (in confidential Appendix B) which 
considers the risks for each of the four options and assesses, in greater detail at 
Appendix A – section 7, the likelihood and impact of the identified risks and provides, 
where appropriate, suitable mitigation measures. Just because risk exists does not 
mean that an option should not be pursued, but it does require a robust understanding 
and appreciation of its impact to the overall scheme and the Council’s position and 
reputation. 

5.5 A financial appraisal of the four options and a budget proposal of each is provided in 
confidential Appendix A – section 8. The financial assessment includes cash flow 
modelling, assessed on a ‘Net Present Value’ basis, explanation around financing and 
likely payback periods, in the event that FDC were to take a lead role in the 
redevelopment process. 

5.6 Whilst a potential offer to purchase the property has been agreed in principle with the 
owner, there remain inherent time pressures in securing and drawing down the funding 
on offer. It is considered prudent to seek authority for a resolution to grant and use of 
Compulsory Purchase Powers if the need arises, the details of this are discussed in 
confidential Appendix A – section 6 and if Members chose an option where acquisition 
is required, a further report will be considered and determined by Cabinet, using its 
executive powers in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation. 

6. Next Steps 
6.1 Members are asked to consider the Options contained within this report, their risks and 

rewards and decide how it would like the Council to apply its resources to resolving the 
problem. 

6.2 Actions will of course flow from whatever decision is chosen by Members, and Officers 
will ensure that a close and continued flow of communication is maintained with 
Members to ensure that they are aware of the progress of their decision.  

Page 98



 

 

6.3 In addition it will be necessary to implement clear communications of the Council’s 
intentions and progress of the project to relevant stakeholders and the community, so a 
communication strategy will be developed and followed. 

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



4

7
6

1

York Row

The

19

29

25

28

30

34

20

13

Church

5 6

7 8

2 3

War

9 1
0

1 to 3

26 
27

TCB

14 
To 

17

6

1

4

1

6.1m

5.2m

5.5m

Castle

El Sub Sta

UNION

MEWS
CASTLE

HIGH STR
EET

PLACE

© Crown Copyright and database
rights 2011 Ordnance Survey 10023778 Created on: 23/05/2018 1:500Scale = 

11/12 High Street, Wisbech
Cambridgeshire, PE13 1DB

±
5 0 5 10 15 202.5

Meters
Page 101



Appendix 2 : Photographic Evidence 

 

11 High Street, Wisbech 
 

 
 

1960s (from Geoff Hastings) 2001 (from FDC planning files) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 102



 

12 High Street, Wisbech 

 
1991 From FDC Conservation Files 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 103



 

2009 From FDC Conservation Files 

2017 Wisbech High St Project files 

Page 104



 

 

Rear of 11-12 High St, 2017 by Matt Emmett 

 

 

 

Page 105



Assumed existing wall here

to be removed

Plant

B03

35.77m2

Basement Retail Unit

B01

204.63m2

Reduced

head height

Fire escape

Reduced head

height /

back of house

storage area

Possible 'back of

house' facilities /

accommodation

Adjoining

retail unit

No. 12No. 11

Possible 'front of house'

vertical circulation

0 4321 5m

Area Summary

Retail Unit: 408m2 Residential:348m2 (3 x 1bed & 3 x 2bed)

Basement: 204m2 1st Floor: 116m2 (1 x 1bed & 2bed)

Ground: 204m2 2nd Floor: 116m2 (1 x 1bed & 2bed)

3rd Floor: 116m2 (1 x 1bed & 2bed)

Residential Circulation: 36.84m2

New build elements

Key

Reconstructed elements

HIGH STREET

Possible 'front of house'

vertical circulation

Bins

Rec

Bins

Bins

Bins

Rec

Cycle Store

Assumed existing wall here

to be removed

Possible 'back of

house' facilities /

accommodation

GF Retail Unit

00-01

204.52m2

Mews

No. 12No. 11

Terrace

000

9.81m2

Stairs

01-03

12.28m2

1Bed - 2People

01-01

47.101m2

*Not possible to add

residential units over,

due to space

restrictions and

rights of light

Covered

Entrance

2 Bed - 3People 

01-02

69.43m2

T
e
r
r
a
c
e

No. 12No. 11

Under recommended

area - 50m2

Terrace

000

9.47m2

Communal Garden

000

85.46m2

1
2
6
5
7

Basement

Ground Floor

First Floor

Second Floor

Third Floor

Assumed line of

previous roof pitch

Line of original wall

5
3
4
7

1
2
5
9
6

9
7
6
3

6
9
7
6

Roof to follow assumed

line of previos roof pitch

facing High Street

Fenland District Council

Wisbech

Proposed Plans Number 11 & 12 Option B

Basement, Ground & First

1070 0023 B

GB TG TG 24.11.15

1:200@A3

Preliminary

NB: Caveat

This drawing is based on scaled information from a

third party. Haverstock cannot be held responsible

for any inaccuracy of this base information or any

associated abortive work this might cause.

A GB TG TG Issued for comment25.11.15

B MM TG TG Issued for comment03.12.15

P
age 106



0 4321 5m

Area Summary

Retail Unit: 408m2 Residential:348m2 (3 x 1bed & 3 x 2bed)

Basement: 204m2 1st Floor: 116m2 (1 x 1bed & 2bed)

Ground: 204m2 2nd Floor: 116m2 (1 x 1bed & 2bed)

3rd Floor: 116m2 (1 x 1bed & 2bed)

Residential Circulation: 36.84m2

New build elements

Key

Reconstructed elements

1
2

6
5

7

Basement

Ground Floor

First Floor

Second Floor

Third Floor Assumed line of

previous roof pitch

Line of original wall

5
1

4
7

1
2

5
9

6

9
7

6
3

6
9

7
6

Plant

Goods

lift

Roof to follow assumed

line of previos roof pitch

facing High Street

No. 12No. 11

Line of

original wall

Stairs

02-03

12.28m2

Terrace 

000

9.58m2

Terrace 

000

9.26m2

1 bed - 2 people 

02-01

45.69m2

2 bed - 3 people 

02-02

69.12m2

No. 12No. 11

Line of

original wall

Stairs

02-03

12.28m2

Under recommended

area - 50m2

Terrace

000

9.26m2

Terrace

000

9.58m2

1 Bed - 2 People 

02-01

45.69m2

2Bed - 3People

02-02

69.12m2

No. 12No. 11

Line of

original wall

chim

chim

brick

gable

wall

parapet

wall

Fenland District Council

Wisbech

Proposed Plans Number 11 & 12 Option B

Second & Third Floor 

1070 0024 B

GB TG TG 24.11.15

1:200@A3

Preliminary

NB: Caveat

This drawing is based on scaled information from a

third party. Haverstock cannot be held responsible

for any inaccuracy of this base information or any

associated abortive work this might cause.

A GB TG TG Issued for comment25.11.15

B MM TG TG Issued for comment03.12.15

 (based on existing drawings & photographs)

P
age 107



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 109

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Agenda Item No: 10  

Committee: Cabinet – 5.00PM (after Council) 

Date:  13 September 2018 

Report Title: Property Acquisition and Compulsory Purchase Order, Wisbech 

 

1 Purpose / Summary 
To seek initial approval to the making of a Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) to enable 
re-development of 11-12 High Street Wisbech 

2 Key issues 
This report should be considered in conjunction with the separate detailed report on the 
options related to this property. This separate report highlights the potential acquisition 
of the site by negotiation from the current owner to deliver the regeneration of the 
property as part of the overall grant aided Heritage Lottery Fund. 
The request for considering a CPO at this stage is to provide a fall-back position if 
current negotiations fail and avoids losing valuable time which could impact on the grant 
utilisation. 
The Cabinet needs to be satisfied that there is a compelling case in the public interest 
for compulsory purchase and that the proposed redevelopment or improvement is likely 
to contribute to the achievement of the promotion or improvement of the economic, 
social or environmental well-being of the Council’s area.  

3 Recommendations 
This report recommends that: 

3.1 the Cabinet resolves in principle to make a Compulsory Purchase Order under Section 
226(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) for the acquisition 
of the land and interests within the area shown edged in red on the plan attached to this 
report for the purpose of enabling the carrying out of a scheme ( the “Scheme”) of 
development, redevelopment and improvement of part of the Wisbech town centre 
which comprises 11-12 High Street ( the Property”) the Cabinet being satisfied that (i) 
the acquisition will facilitate the carrying out of the development, redevelopment or 
improvement on or in relation to the land, and (ii) the development, redevelopment or 
improvement is likely to contribute to the promotion or improvement of the economic, 
social and environmental wellbeing of its area;  

3.2 Subject to a confirmatory second resolution from the Cabinet, to authorise the Growth, 
Heritage and Community Safety Portfolio Holder in conjunction with relevant Corporate 
Directors: 

(i)  Take all necessary steps to settle the Statement of Reasons, and to 
 secure the making, confirmation and implementation of the Compulsory 
 Purchase Order including the publication and service of all notices and 
 plans and the presentation of the Council's case at any Public Inquiry; 
 (ii)  To acquire interests in land within the Compulsory Purchase Order either 
 by agreement or compulsorily; and  

Page 147



(iii)  Reach agreement or undertakings with land owner(s) setting out the terms 
 for the withdrawal of objections to the Compulsory Purchase Order, where 
 appropriate seeking exclusion of land from the Compulsory Purchase 
 Order; 

3.3 The Growth, Heritage and Community Safety Portfolio Holder in conjunction with 
relevant Corporate Directors is authorised to conduct all negotiations and settle all 
terms as may be necessary in order to progress and complete any further agreements 
to be made in respect of the development to enable the delivery of the Scheme.  

 

Wards Affected Medworth Ward, Wisbech 

Forward Plan Reference  

Portfolio Holder(s) Cllr Chris Seaton – Leader 
Cllr David Oliver – Portfolio Holder for Growth, Heritage and 
Community Safety 
Cllr Anne Hay – Finance Portfolio Holder 

Report Originator(s) Gary Garford – Corporate Director (Growth & Infrastructure) 
Taleyna Fletcher – Townscape Heritage Officer, Wisbech High St 
Project  
Stephen Turnbull – Planning Lawyer (PCC) 
Justin Wingfield – Head of Business & Economy 
Kamal Mehta – Corporate Director (Finance) 

Contact Officer(s) Paul Medd – Chief Executive 
Gary Garford – Corporate Director (Growth & Infrastructure) 
Kamal Mehta – Corporate Director (Finance) 
Justin Wingfield – Head of Business & Economy 

Background Paper(s) Council Report – Property Acquisition and Regeneration, 
Wisbech – 13 September 2018 

Page 148



 

 

1 Background/Introduction 
1.1 This report concerns the property known as 11-12 High Street, Wisbech which comprises 

two separate Grade II listed derelict former shop premises, but for the purpose of this 
report are dealt with as a single property. The property is shown as edged red on the 
attached plan (at Appendix 1) and is situated in a highly prominent location within the 
town centre and within the Wisbech Conservation Area. 

1.2 The buildings are believed to date to the early C18th, constructed from reddened local 
brown brick. A report prepared by Historic England (English Heritage at that time) in 2006 
and commissioned by FDC described the buildings as “four storeys high with a 
basement. They both have shops on the ground floor which have been extended at the 
rear to cover virtually the whole of the available sites. Both floor facades have been 
replaced with C20th shopfronts and the interiors have been completely opened up and all 
the fitting and decoration stripped out.” 

1.3 At present all that remains is a brick façade supported by internal party & curtain walls, 
although the upper storey of each façade has been partly dismantled for safety reasons. 
Whilst there are some structural remains in the footprint of the former buildings behind, it 
is widely assumed that this is not salvageable and that any new redevelopment scheme 
would not be required to retain the original layout (subject to planning consent). Access is 
currently not possible due to the conditions of the site and therefore remote surveys have 
been undertaken using a drone and elevated platform. 

1.4 Despite their current appearance, these two properties remain Grade II listed (HE List 
Entry Numbers: 1331613 and 1279361) and are subject to the same listed building 
conditions as any other listed property.  

1.5 Both properties are under the ownership and control of one person who is not locally 
based. The owner acquired the two properties approximately 23 years ago for an 
undisclosed sum. 

1.6 The owner was unable to fund such repairs which meant that FDC had to intervene in 
default in accordance with its powers authorised under the Building Act 1984. The cost of 
the repairs, detailed in the confidential appendices, remains the responsibility of the 
owner and a charge was therefore secured in favour of FDC and recorded in the local 
land charges registry.  

1.7 In the years that have followed and for various reasons, the property fell into a state of 
significant disrepair resulting in the need for urgent structural repairs. In particular, 
Fenland District Council was notified of potentially significant and dangerous faults 
regarding the roof and upper courses of brickwork.  

1.8 The owner is unable to bring forward the property as part of the HLF scheme so 
negotiations have been had with the owner for the Council to potentially acquire the 
property so the improvements and grant is not put as risk. 

1.9 This report seeks approval to the making of an initial resolution to make a compulsory 
purchase order to enable redevelopment of 11-12 High Street Wisbech to secure the 
benefits outlined later in this report. 

2 Compulsory Purchase Power 
2.1 The Council has the power under section 226 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 (as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004) to make a 
compulsory purchase order in respect of any land in their area if the Council thinks that 
the purchase of the land will facilitate the carrying out of development, redevelopment or 
improvement on or in relation to the land.  

Page 149



 

 

2.2 The Council may not exercise the power unless it considers that the development, 
redevelopment or improvement is likely to contribute to the achievement of any one or 
more of the following objectives:  

• The promotion or improvement of the economic well-being of their area;  

• The promotion or improvement of the social well-being of their area;  

• The promotion or improvement of the environmental well-being of their area.  
2.3 It is immaterial that the development, redevelopment or improvement may be carried out 

by a third party.  
2.4 Section 13 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous) Provisions Act 1976 enables the 

Council to compulsorily acquire new rights. These may be necessary for access and 
construction purposes. 
Guidance 

2.5 In February 2018 the Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government published 
guidance entitled “Guidance on Compulsory Purchase Process and the Crichel Down 
Rules” ( the “Guidance”) which supersedes ODPM Circular 06/2004, and which provides 
guidance to acquiring authorities in England on the use of compulsory purchase powers.  
Paragraph 1 of the Guidance states:  
“Compulsory purchase powers are an important tool to use as a means of assembling the 
land needed to help deliver social, environmental and economic change. Used properly, 
they can contribute towards effective and efficient urban and rural regeneration, essential 
infrastructure, the revitalisation of communities, and the promotion of business – leading 
to improvements in quality of life.” 

2.6 Particular advice on orders made by local authorities under Section 226 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 is contained in Paragraph 95 of the Guidance, which states:  
“This power is intended to provide a positive tool to help acquiring authorities with 
planning powers to assemble land where this is necessary to implement proposals in 
their Local Plan or where strong planning justifications for the use of the power exist. It is 
expressed in wide terms and can therefore be used to assemble land for regeneration 
and other schemes where the range of activities or purposes proposed mean that no 
other single specific compulsory purchase power would be appropriate” 

2.7 The Guidance requires the Council to have regard (inter alia) to the following when 
considering making a Compulsory Purchase Order:  

• a compulsory purchase order should only be made where there is a compelling 
case in the public interest; 

• an acquiring authority should be sure that the purposes for which the compulsory 
purchase order is made justify interfering with the human rights of those with an 
interest in the land affected. Particular consideration should be given to the 
provisions of Article 1 of the First Protocol to the European Convention on Human 
Rights and, in the case of a dwelling, Article 8 of the Convention; 

• it is not essential to show that land is required immediately to secure the purpose 
for which it is to be acquired, but a confirming minister will need to understand, 
and the acquiring authority must be able to demonstrate, that there are sufficiently 
compelling reasons for the powers to be sought at this time;  

• the acquiring authority should provide substantive information as to the sources of 
funding available for both acquiring the land and implementing the scheme for 
which the land is required. If the scheme is not intended to be independently 
financially viable, or that the details cannot be finalised until there is certainty that 
the necessary land will be required, the acquiring authority should provide an Page 150



 

 

indication of how any potential shortfalls are intended to be met. Funding is 
expected to be available now or early in the process.  

2.8 The Guidance looks to acquiring authorities to seek to acquire land by agreement 
wherever practicable. However, the Guidance recognises that it may be sensible for 
acquiring authorities to start formal compulsory purchase procedures in parallel with their 
efforts to acquire by agreement and this is true of the engagement with the owner of 11-
12 High Street. The Guidance notes that this has the advantage of making the 
seriousness of the acquiring authority's intentions clear from the outset, which in turn 
might encourage those whose land is affected to enter more readily into meaningful 
negotiations.  

2.9 A compulsory purchase order to which there are objections will require confirmation by 
the Secretary of State to become effective. The Guidance provides that any decision by 
the Secretary of State about whether to confirm an order under Section 226 will be made 
on its own merit, but the factors that the Secretary of State can be expected to consider 
include; (a) whether the purpose to which the land is being acquired fits in with the 
adopted planning framework for the area; (b) the extent to which the proposed purpose 
will contribute to the achievement of the promotion or improvement of the economic, 
social or environmental wellbeing of the area; and (c) whether the purpose for which the 
acquiring authority is proposing to acquire the land could be achieved by other means, for 
example any alternative proposals put forward by the owners of the land.  

2.10 A ‘Statement of Reasons’ for the CPO will be prepared and will be attached to the Order, 
if made. This will provide a detailed overview, background to the scheme, planning 
history, planning policy and policy context and reasons why a CPO is appropriate.  

2.11 Discussions with the owner are ongoing and it is hoped to acquire the property by private 
treaty. A further report to Council explains in much greater detail, the options for securing 
redevelopment of the property:- Cabinet Report “Property Acquisition and Regeneration, 
Wisbech”.  

2.12 This report should be read alongside the above report and within the context of those 
options and the background thereto and take into account the decision of Full Council. 

2.13 In considering the use of compulsory purchase powers the Cabinet is reminded that the 
Council must have due regard to its duty under S149 of the Equality Act 2010 and the 
Public Sector Equality Duty. In particular the detailed scheme will need to be designed 
having regard to disability requirements. Otherwise there is no known likelihood of an 
adverse impact on persons with protected characteristics which might arise from the 
proposals. 

2.14 Before any redevelopment can take place relevant consents will need to be granted, 
including planning permission and listed building consents. 

2.15 The redevelopment will be assisted by funding from the Heritage Lottery Fund - see 
further below and the report entitled:- Council Report “Property Acquisition and 
Regeneration, Wisbech”. 

3 Planning Context  
Introduction 

3.1 The Planning Policy context for the properties at 11-12 High Street, Wisbech, and the 
wider area, together with relevant material planning considerations, are described in 
paragraphs 3.3 to 3.12 below.  As the site lies within the Wisbech Conservation Area and 
involves the redevelopment of two Listed Buildings a separate Conservation Statement 
has been produced at section 4 of this report. 

3.2 In terms of policy, the National Planning Policy Framework 2018 (NPPF) sets out the 
Governments planning policies for England and is treated as a material planning 

Page 151



 

 

consideration for the purposes of decision making.  The Fenland Local Plan 2014 (the 
“Local Plan”) is the adopted development plan for Fenland, and as such planning 
decisions should accord with the Local Plan. 
National Planning Policy Framework 2018 

3.3 As discussed earlier, 11-12 High Street, Wisbech, are Grade II Listed Buildings set within 
Wisbech Conservation Area but are in very poor condition. The condition of the property 
impacts (refer to Appendix 2 of the main report) significantly on the  visual quality of  the  
High Street  and  is  likely to have wider  impact in  terms  of  the general attractiveness  
of the Town Centre  and  property values in the immediate area.   

3.4 The challenges posed by the property mean that as suggested by the NPPF, the 
“planning policies and decisions should plan an active role in guiding development 
towards sustainable solutions, but in doing so should take local circumstances into 
account, to reflect the character, needs and opportunities of each area” to deliver a 
sustainable solution which fulfils the economic, social and environmental roles (NPPF 
para 8). 

3.5 The consideration of any scheme should have regard to Section 16 of the NPPF, 
Conserving and enhancing the historic environment which states that heritage assets 
“are an irreplaceable resource, and should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their 
significance so that they can be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of  the 
current and  future generations”.  Paras 189 to 192 sets out the requirements of an 
applicant when submitting a proposal that affects a heritage asset. 

3.6 Para 124 of  the NPPF recognises  the role  that good design has  in the  delivery of  
sustainable  development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps 
make development acceptable to communities.   

3.7 Para 185 of the NPPF  sets out factors that should be taken in to account when 
considering development proposals involving heritage assets which are: 

• The  desirability of sustaining and  enhancing  the significance of heritage assets,  
and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation; 

• The wider social, cultural, economic and environmental benefits that conservation 
of the historic environment can bring; 

• The desirability of new  development making a  positive contribution to local 
character  and distinctiveness;  and 

• Opportunities to draw on the contribution made by the historic environment to the 
character of the place. 

3.8 The greater the significance of the asset, the greater the weight should be given to the 
conservation of the asset (Para 193).  The redevelopment of the site could result in 
substantial harm to these assets and therefore this should only be allowed in exceptional 
cases. The NPPF (para 194) states that “any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a 
designated heritage (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its 
setting) should require clear and convincing justification”. 
Fenland Local Plan (Adopted May 2014) 

3.9 The Fenland Local Plan 2014, as may be expected, mirrors  the  provisions  of  the NPPF 
and states (in Policy LP16) that new development will only be  permitted  where  it 
“protects and enhances” any heritage  asset and their  setting, commensurate  with 
Government ‘s statements on the matter in the NPPF and also in relation to Local Plan 
Policy LP 18.  LP18 states that the Council will “protect, conserve and seek opportunities   
to enhance the historic environment throughout Fenland” to be achieved through the 
consideration of planning applications and listed building consent. 

Page 152



 

 

3.10 In the context of the above, the condition of 11-12 High Street, Wisbech, is such that it 
seems likely that there could be substantial harm/loss as part of the proposed 
redevelopment of the property. It is considered that, on submission of the relevant 
information, this could be justified and outweighed by the significant sustainability 
benefits that the redevelopment could bring. 

3.11 Policy LP1 of the Fenland Local Plan seeks to achieve sustainable growth that brings 
benefits for all sections of the community and states that Fenland District Council will take 
a positive approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development 
contained in the NPPF.  Policy LP2 seeks to achieve a high level of residential amenity to 
facilitate health and wellbeing of Fenland residents.  It also seeks to achieve 
opportunities for employment in accessible locations. 

3.12 The overall strategy of the Local Plan is for sustainable growth, including new housing 
and job creation and LP3 sets out that the main focus for the majority of growth is in and 
around the four market towns.   
Planning History 

3.13 11 and 12 High Street, Wisbech, are both Grade II Listed Buildings which are adjacent to 
each other located on the eastern side of High Street and lie within the historic heart of 
Wisbech Conservation Area.   

3.14 There is no extant Planning Permission or Listed Building Consent associated with this 
site and future development will be subject to both planning application and Listed 
Building Consent applications.   
Condition of 11 and 12 High Street, Wisbech 

3.15 Turning to the specific characteristics of the property, which is in very poor condition and 
the cost associated with keeping the whole of the frontage (half of the frontage is 
significantly worse than the other) is such that the redevelopment could be economically 
unviable even with grant assistance.  Whilst a development  proposal could  result in 
substantial harm and  partial loss of the asset, the redevelopment of the site could  bring 
significant sustainability benefits namely: 

• Reuse  of an underused  site; 
• The  provision of town centre housing  which will help in the delivery of a more 

balanced range of town centre uses at a time where such locations are needing to 
change  to retain the vitality and viability; 

• The provision of modern , fit for purpose shop units; 
• Investment in property in the locality which would improve investor confidence and 

property values; 
• The improvement of the quality of the built environment which will encourage  

people to use and enjoy Wisbech town centre; 
• The retention of at least part of the remaining heritage asset;  
• Provide for suitably compatible design of building that complements and enhances  

the appearance of the Conservation Area and the setting of nearby Listed 
Buildings; 

Conclusion 
At this point in time no planning permission / listed  building consent application has  
been received for the proposed redevelopment and so it is not possible to undertake a  
detailed assessment of whether the sustainability benefits of the scheme would certainly 
outweigh the substantial harm that could be caused to the asset. However, it is 
considered that there is a reasonable prospect that substantial harm could be caused. A 

Page 153



 

 

separate Conservation Area Assessment has been provided setting out the developer 
considerations in respect of both of these properties. 

4 Conservation Area Assessment  
Background 

4.1 Architecturally Wisbech is regarded as one of East Anglia’s finest historic towns 
presenting a wealth of predominantly Georgian and Victorian buildings. The historic core 
of the town is recognised for its special architectural and historic interest and it is 
designated a Conservation Area.  

4.2 Wisbech Conservation Area was first designated in March 1971 and the original 
boundary included streets such as the Brinks, Old Market, High Street, Market Place and 
the Crescent. The Conservation Area boundary was subsequently enlarged in 1980 and 
the boundary amended in 2008/2009.  It is to be noted that within Wisbech Conservation 
Area there is a particularly high density of listed buildings, 235 listed buildings in total, 
which reinforces the architectural and historic merits of the area. Over 1/3 of the listed 
buildings within Fenland are located within the Wisbech Conservation Area. 11 High 
Street and 12 High Street are both Grade II listed buildings and were listed in 19th 
November 1976 and 31st October 1983 respectively.  

4.3 It is evident that Wisbech and its town centre has faced issues for many decades and at 
the time the Conservation Area was first designated in 1971 areas of the town such as 
Old Market presented a number of dilapidated buildings with decrepit warehousing 
behind them facing the river, although these issues of dilapidation have long been 
addressed.  

4.4 When Wisbech Conservation Area was first designated the High Street found itself in 
much better circumstances than it does today and was a vibrant street within the 
commercial centre of the town. 11 High Street and 12 High Street were roofed buildings 
and had shops operating from their ground floor premise, Turner’s Shoes and Foster 
Brothers respectively. The upper floors of these two buildings were habitable with 
windows in place on the High Street elevations. The decline of buildings along the High 
Street and particularly the derelict state 11 High Street and 12 High Street now find 
themselves in has had a significant detrimental impact on the character and appearance 
of High Street, on the Wisbech Conservation Area and on the interests of the two listed 
buildings themselves.  

4.5 In 2014 Historic England recognised the problems Wisbech Conservation Area faced and 
the harm which was being caused to the special interests of the Conservation Area 
resulting from a number of issues.  In 2014 Wisbech Conservation Area was added to 
Historic England’s Heritage at Risk Register due to issues concerning the dereliction of 
buildings and key streets within the Conservation Area, which have a considerable 
negative impact on the character and the appearance of this fine Conservation Area.  

4.6 An opportunity to specifically address the dereliction of High Street came in 2016 when 
Heritage Lottery Funding from the Townscape Heritage Scheme was awarded to the 
High Street project. This funding offers the much needed opportunity to address the 
issues along High Street and regenerate this vital street within the town centre. The 
improvement of High Street will serve to enhance the character and appearance of the 
Wisbech Conservation Area, retain and better reveal the historic significance of the street 
and addresses a situation which significantly detracts from the special interests of the 
Conservation Area. 

4.7 The risk issues which are harming the special interest of the Wisbech Conservation Area 
are set out in the Wisbech Conservation Area Management Plan (March 2016). Priority 
Objective One commits the Council to the delivery of the Heritage Lottery Funded 
Wisbech High Street Project which includes dealing with 11 High Street and 12 High 
Street. Furthermore Priority Objective Four focuses on Buildings at Risk, of which 11 Page 154



 

 

High Street and 12 High Street are at the highest risk, and states that: “The Council will 
(i) seek to make contact with the owners of listed buildings “at risk” within the Wisbech 
Conservation Area to raise concerns about their condition, (ii) look to work proactively 
with owners in the first instance to provide advice to facilitate repairs and reuse of these 
buildings and (iii) consider using statutory powers where necessary, and in accordance 
with best practice, to secure repair where cooperation with owners is not forthcoming”. 
With regard to 11 High Street and 12 High Street is understood that step (i) and (ii) have 
been followed but without success and the Council is now at step (iii) in moving forward 
matters forward to addressing these high category buildings at risk.  
Legislative and Policy Considerations 

4.8 Securing a project to redevelop the dilapidated buildings of 11 High Street and 12 High 
Street is critical to the success of the Townscape Heritage (TH) High Street Project, to 
addressing the derelict state of these listed buildings, to enhancing the conservation area 
and to work towards getting Wisbech Conservation Area removed from Historic 
England’s Heritage at Risk register. Developing a suitable scheme of redevelopment for 
11-12 High Street which serves to preserve and enhance the character and appearance 
of the Wisbech Conservation Area would accord with S72 Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Area) Act 1990. A scheme would also accord with the provisions of 
paragraph 131 NPPF (2012) where it will sustain and enhance the significance of 
heritage assets and put them to viable use consistent with their conservation, make a 
positive contribution to the conservation of heritage assets in association with improving 
the economic vitality of the area and making a positive contribution to the local character 
and appearance of the area.   

4.9 The District Council has made a number of commitments to protecting and conserving 
the district’s heritage. Policy LP18 Fenland Land Local Plan (2014) states “The Council 
will protect, conserve and seek opportunities to enhance the historic environment through 
Fenland”. Policy LP8 which is a Wisbech specific policy states “All development should 
contribute to the promotion of Wisbech into a strong, safe and community focused market 
town, preserving and enhancing its unique historic character and making appropriate use 
of heritage assets to benefit its regeneration, tourism potential and sense of place”. 
Furthermore a town strategy, Wisbech 20/20 Vision, was launched in 2013. The themes 
of this town strategy account for the town’s heritage for example, theme 2 includes a  
focus to “Secure further investment in Wisbech’s outstanding built heritage and leave a 
positive legacy for future generations” and theme 4  reference “Restoring the image of 
Wisbech as the proud economic and social Capital of the Fens”. 
Argument for Council intervention 

4.10 It is understood that the current owner of 11-12 High Street is not in a financial position to 
progress development of these properties. Utilising the statutory planning powers to 
compulsory purchase 11-12 High Street offers a means of securing redevelopment of 
these dilapidated listed buildings in a timely manner and at a critical point in time when 
grant funding is available through the Heritage Lottery Funded Townscape Heritage 
Wisbech High Street project. Such grant funding includes a significant proportion of the 
HLF awarded £1.9m funding allocated for the ‘conservation deficit’ to the rebuild of 11-12 
High Street, which is time limited to complete the works and draw down the funding by 
January 2021. 

4.11 Objective 4 of the Wisbech Conservation Area Management Plan (2016) states the 
Council will “(iii) consider using statutory powers where necessary, and in accordance 
with best practice, to secure repair where cooperation with owners is not forthcoming” 
and this step has been reached in respect of 11-12 High Street. Heritage focused 
legalisation and policy commitment, with specific Wisbech focused commitments, to 
preserve and enhance heritage assets support such course of action given that in order 
to enhance Wisbech’s unique historic character, restore its image and make positive 

Page 155



 

 

changes within the conservation area it is fundamental that 11-12 High Street are 
addressed. If the owner is not able to achieve this or willing to sell the property, 
compulsory purchaser offers the only opportunity to begin to address the property.  
Development Potential 

4.12 At this time no scheme has been formally submitted to redevelop the site of 11-12 High 
Street and there is no extant planning permission or listed building consent for the 
development of the site. Design suggestions (Haverstock Plans) have been put forward 
with the 2016 HLF Wisbech High Street bid submission and these give an indication of 
building layouts which may potentially be achieved consisting of ground floor, first floor, 
second floor and third floor. Given the bid designs are indicative only there remains the 
development potential to work a scheme up in different ways and this may include 
looking to incorporate a fourth floor if this can be achieved in an understated manner. 

4.13 In any scheme it is expected that the High Street frontage of the building will retain its 
existing traditional appearance constructed in brick with parapet detail to the top of the 
façade along with the existing arrangement of windows the upper floors present. The 
ground floor shop frontages shall present traditionally designed shop fronts. Conservation 
guidance dated 26th July 2018, in the form of a development brief, covering items that 
should be taken into consideration in working up a scheme to develop this site has been 
issued.  

4.14 Future development of this site does need to take account of what historic fabric could be 
retained in any redevelopment scheme balanced with the financial viability of 
redevelopment and an understanding of the significance of retained fabric. A structural 
report by the Morton Partnership (June 2018) has assessed the structural stability of the 
surviving ruinous fabric of 11-12 High Street. This report concludes that the rear walls 
behind the façade (street fronting walls) will need to be demolished as would the 
basement level as a result of their poor structural condition. It concluded “the front walls 
of the two buildings, at least in part, are the only real significant areas of structure which 
potentially could be retained” with the front wall of 12 High Street being possible to fully 
utilise in any new re-development and 11 High Street being possible to retain from below 
the 2nd floor. Redevelopment of this site needs to be considered within the context of 
viability and deliverability issues referred to in the Council Report “Property Acquisition 
and Regeneration, Wisbech”. At this time there is an open view as to whether the existing 
facades will be retained or replaced but fundamentally any future planning application 
and listed building consent application will need to fully justify the development approach 
proposed. 

5 Conclusions 
5.1 Taking all of the above carefully into account, it is also considered that use by the Council 

of its compulsory purchase powers to bring about the proposed re-development would 
contribute to the achievement of the promotion or improvement of the economic, social 
and environmental well-being of the Council’s area.  

5.2 On balance it is considered that there is a compelling case in the public interest to seek 
to use compulsory purchase powers as proposed. 

 

Page 156


	Agenda
	2 Previous Minutes
	3 Civic Engagements Update
	7 To receive reports from and ask questions of Cabinet members with portfolio holder responsibilities, in accordance with Procedure Rules 8.1 and 8.2.
	8 PETITION - Clinical Waste Collection Charges
	1 Purpose / Summary
	2 Key issues
	3 Recommendations

	10 Property Acquisition and Regeneration, Wisbech
	Cover sheet:
	1. Purpose / Summary
	2. Key Issues
	3. Recommendations

	Cabinet Report  2pm
	Cover sheet:
	1. Purpose / Summary
	2. Key Issues
	3. Recommendations

	Report:
	1. Purpose of Report
	2. Public Interest
	3. The Property
	4. Heritage Lottery Fund Grant
	5. The Opportunities - Development options, finance and risk
	6. Next Steps


	Appendices 1-3
	Appendix 1 - Site Location Plan 11-12 High Street Wisbech
	Appendix 2 - Photographs
	Appendix 3 - Basement to First Floor
	Appendix 3 - Second to Third Floor

	Confidential Appendices A-G
	Cabinet Report 5pm
	1 Purpose / Summary
	2 Key issues
	3 Recommendations
	1 Background/Introduction
	2 Compulsory Purchase Power
	3 Planning Context
	4 Conservation Area Assessment
	5 Conclusions



